
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Tuesday, 14 
September 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Arts & Culture Strategy Update (Pages 7 - 24)

6. Community Engagement Strategy Action Plan (Pages 25 - 38)

7. Equalities Policies and Action Plan Update (Pages 39 - 54)

8. Extract from the Register of Partnerships and Shared Service (Pages 55 - 80)

9. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22 (Pages 81 - 92)



10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

11.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None. 

Members

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Gurjit Kaur Bains
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Emma Morley
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Thursday, 3 June 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Gurjit Kaur Bains
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Brian Francis
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities)
Sean Steer Community Safety Operations Manager
Tim Harris Environmental Enforcement Manager
Ciara Ferguson Committee Services Support Assistant

1. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Emma Morley. Cllr Brian Francis attended as 
her substitute.

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Monday, 15 March 2021 were signed by the Chair.

3. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared an other interest in agenda Item 7. Corporate Performance 
Report: Q4 2020-21 as he is a Council appointee on Gravesham Community Leisure Limited 
(GCLL) and The Gr@nd CIC.

Cllr Peter Scollard declared an other interest in agenda Item 7. Corporate Performance 
Report: Q4 2020-21 as he is a Council appointee on Gravesham Community Leisure Limited 
(GCLL)

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 3.06.2021

2

4. Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy Update 

The Community Safety Operations Manager provided the Committee with the details of 
progress being made with the Council’s Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) Strategy since the last 
update report in September 2020.

The Community Safety Operations Manager reiterated that the focus remains on prevention, 
early identification, intervention, enforcement and communication. The following points were 
highlighted during the update:

 Prevention and Community Involvement: there has been an increase in the number 
of residents volunteering as Street Champions. Furthermore, there have been 
improvements with waste disposal bins and an effective promotion of the good 
disposal of household waste.

 Prevention and Intervention: the creation of a new post titled Specialist Housing 
Officer to operate in the Denton area. Housing have also signed up to training from 
the Chartered Institute of Housing and are receiving regular ASB training for all 
members of staff. There is also a new Council Tenant Handbook in progress and 
regular housing estate inspections. 

 Supportive Intervention: continuing to identify safeguarding and vulnerability 
concerns. Recently, the Safeguarding Policy Lead Safeguarding Officer updated the 
Safeguarding Policy with training arranged for staff and to be rolled out to Members.

 Enforcement: the new Gravesham Community Safety Partnership is becoming 
established and will have a more focused approach on Gravesham’s priorities. 
Moreover, a new Community Safety Project Coordinator was recruited in April to lead 
on area based anti-social behaviour. The Community Safety Unit web pages have 
also been updated. 

Following questions from the Committee; the Community Safety Operations Manager 
highlighted the following:

 The Specialist Housing Officer will operate in the Denton area, they will mainly 
specialise in dealing with the Gypsy and Traveller community and they will 
investigate ASB reports within council estates. A summary of their role will be sent 
out to Members after the meeting.

 In regards to Woodlands Park, which experienced ASB issues which resulted in 
private security having to be hired during a lockdown, there has been an increased 
police presence to deter anti-social behaviour. Park Information Officers will be 
present in local parks and will be giving advice and guidance on the use of parks, 
such as issuing tickets for anybody seen littering. Moreover, CCTV is in operation at 
Woodlands Park, with one permanent camera and a mobile camera placed over the 
basketball area. Recently, the Police went to Woodlands Park with a big screen and 
offered advice on topics such as the use of E-Scooters. 

Members noted the information contained in the report.

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 3.06.2021

3

5. Environmental Enforcement Presentation 

The Committee received a presentation from Tim Harris, the Environmental Enforcement 
Manager, on the Environmental Enforcement Team’s achievements to date with examples of 
case studies. 

The presentation can be viewed on the link below:
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63025/Environmental%20Enforcement%2
0Presentation.pdf

Following questions from the Committee; the Environment Enforcement Manager highlighted 
the following:

 In regards to suspected fly-tipping caught on CCTV, the example given being a 
vehicle driving down a road with visible items in the back and returning empty, the 
prosecution relies on the DVLA. If the vehicle is driving down a large road which has 
a multitude of entrance and exit junctions, the CCTV alone of the vehicle driving 
down the road would not be enough evidence for the DVLA to surrender the vehicle 
details, there would need to be a witness statement to accompany the CCTV. 

 In an effort to reduce the amount of fly-tipping occurring at recycling centres, the 
Environmental Enforcement Team are partnering up with SOEX. Cameras will be 
installed at multiple recycling sites and signage has already been displayed stating 
that ‘CCTV is in operation’. SOEX will be responsible for collecting evidence which 
they will forward to the Council. 

 In relation to fly-tipping at charity shops, there needs to be better education for 
Gravesham residents as to what charity shops will and will not accept. However, in 
some cases it may be a clear example of fly-tipping and in these scenarios the 
Environmental Enforcement Team will always investigate. 

 As illustrated in Case Study 1, multiple Members were concerned with Gravesham 
residents being conned by fake waste disposal companies who would go on to fly-tip 
their waste illegally. The Environment Enforcement Manager explained that the 
Council does not intend to prosecute members of the public who have made genuine 
mistakes. Kent County Council have also recently tried to educate and spread 
awareness to members of the public on their Duty of Care through a large 
programme which included posters on bus stops and on buses. Furthermore, there 
are regular leaflet drops and social media posts about the topic. 

 When residents contact the Environmental Enforcement Team with their fly-tipping 
sighting through the website link or the contact centre, they can expect an email 
response at each stage of the investigation. If the fly-tipping site is found to be 
outside of the investigative realm of the team, for example: it is on private land, then 
the resident will receive an email to explain this. The turnaround for attending a      
fly-tipping report is the next working day and waste management intend to remove 
the waste within five days. When the waste is cleared, the resident will receive an 
automated email, ensuring a constant flow of information to the resident. 

 When a case goes to Court and relies on a witness statement solely, the witness 
cannot remain anonymous. However, the Council can use the initial witness 
statement in the investigation process to gain access to information from the DVLA. 
As the investigation progresses, if there is then enough evidence against the 
suspected fly-tipper the witness may not be needed for the Court process. 

Page 5

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63025/Environmental%20Enforcement%20Presentation.pdf
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63025/Environmental%20Enforcement%20Presentation.pdf


Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 3.06.2021

4

Furthermore, the witness can at any stage withdraw their statement if they feel 
intimidated.

The Committee commended the Environmental Enforcement Manager and his team on the 
fantastic work in this area. 

6. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 4  2020/21 

The Committee were provided with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Four 2020-21 
(January to March 2021).

The Assistant Director (Communities) guided Members through the report and gave a brief 
overview of each Policy Commitment.

Following questions from the Committee; the Assistant Director (Communities) highlighted 
the following:

 With regards to PI 1 – Although the amount of reported crime offences has 
decreased overall, reported domestic abuse offences and Anti-Social Behaviour 
increased during the pandemic. Domestic abuse offences are reported as violence 
against the person and invariably entered into the stalking and harassment sub-
category.  ASB figures have been contributed to as a result of incidents of the 
breaking of Covid-19 restrictions being reported within this category.  

 In regards to PI 42 – Members noted that The Woodville has temporarily opened as a 
Covid-19 vaccination centre and praised the work completed by the staff. Members 
expressed they are looking forward to The Woodville reopening as a theatre and 
hosting live events in the auditorium. 

Members noted the information contained within the report. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.50 pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Committee

Date: 14th September 2021

Reporting officer: Cultural Manager

Subject: Cultural update and Action plan

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report is an information paper to reflect the cultural activity that has taken place since the 
ratification of A Creative Gravesham - An Arts and Culture Strategy in September 2020. This 
includes an Action Plan proposed for 22/23. 

Recommendations:
1. That the paper is recognised as a reflection of the activity that has taken place and 

the plans and actions are approved for 22/23

1. Context and Reflection

1.1 A Creative Gravesham – An Arts and Culture Strategy was ratified in September 
2020 including the delivery plan for the first year of the strategy. The strategy 
identified 5 priorities:-

1.1.1 Delivering a cultural and creative community

1.1.2 Supporting and developing artists and creatives

1.1.3 Establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme

1.1.4 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage

1.1.5 Developing our children and young people creatively

1.2 Each priority has identified activities and outcomes that reflect our aspirations over 
the next 5 years.

1.3 Despite the pandemic the past year has seen some significant achievements in 
the 5 priority areas the highlights of which include:

1.3.1 Delivering a cultural and creative community

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

1.3.1.1 Ratification of the strategy and distributed to both arts and 
community partners as a signpost of our intentions and 
aspirations.

1.3.1.2 The Make It Grants contributed to the building out of Covid activity 
delivering 5 grants creating new work in September 2020 and 5 
artists grants as part of the Bloomin’ Lovely Festival in summer 
2021. Engaging artists and enabling partnerships with external 
organisations.

1.3.1.3 Continued planning of the St George’s Arts Centre including 
developing a programme for the first year of operation

1.3.1.4 Strong programming of St Andrew’s Arts Centre including as a 
rehearsal space for work commissioned by GBC and supported 
by Arts Council England.

1.3.1.5 Identifying ‘pop-up’ spaces for use including the windows of the 
Riva bar, the plinth on the pier and the railings in St Andrew’s 
Gardens.

1.3.1.6 Increased use of Gravesham Borough Market as an installation 
space during the Fringe Festival.

1.3.1.7 The added activity across the cultural sector including Estuary 21 
co commissions and the Fringe Festival attracted interest from 
artists outside the borough who are beginning to think of 
Gravesham as potential relocation area.

1.3.1.8 Our outside spaces especially Fort Gardens have been 
programmed throughout the summer and have embedded 
themselves in the firmament of flexible and agile spaces from 
which to deliver our arts and culture programme.

1.3.2 Supporting and Developing Artists and Creatives

1.3.2.1 Several new pieces of work have been developed in the borough 
supported by GBC through the Make It Grants and larger co – 
commissions for England’s Creative Coast and Estuary 21

1.3.2.2 Encouraging start with using matched funding strategically to 
leverage funds from other organisations.

1.3.2.3 Significant assistance throughout the pandemic by Economic 
Development has enabled local artists and organisations to 
survive and plan for the future.

1.3.2.4 Ongoing meetings of the Gravesham Arts Salon networking group 
to establish a cultural diary. Estuary Fringe offered a potential 
framework.

1.3.2.5 Consistent direction of travel for culture to be flexible and able to 
respond to external influences including during discussion 
regarding the new venue.

1.3.3 Establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme

Page 8



3

1.3.3.1 A successful bid from Gravesham Arts Salon enabled a hybrid 
Estuary Fringe Festival to take place both live and online with 
over 30 events working with multiple artists and attracting over 
10,000 engagements both live and online.

1.3.3.2 Successful funding for the Windrush event and ongoing 
partnerships with diverse groups throughout the borough.

1.3.3.3 Developing hybrid models of cultural delivery through using 
alternative spaces and online platforms.

1.3.3.4 Joined up working with Sports and Recreation offering arts 
workshops as part of the Summer Fun programme in the Fort 
Gardens and Heritage site

1.3.3.5 Sustainable focus for Make It Grants.

1.3.4 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage

1.3.4.1 The Milton Chantry 700 activity has been undertaken and one of 
the Bloomin’ Lovely grants has established an onsite installation. 
New internal displays, live character sessions introduced adding 
to the visitor activities. Ongoing activity in St Andrew’s highlighting 
it’s historical significance including a new opera by Fat Lady 
Opera - 12 Points of Tide referencing the Beaufort Windscale, Sir 
Francis Beaufort is commemorated by his daughter in St 
Andrew’s

1.3.4.2 New apps are being identified to enhance the visitor experience.

1.3.4.3 Use of the newly re-imagined barrack room at the Chantry with 
live historical interactions which has attracted enthusiastic and 
significant numbers of visitors as part of the Summer Fun Day 
programme.

1.3.4.4 Criteria for some Make it Grants for Bloomin’ Lovely were specific 
to the heritage sites and have resulted in installations at Fort 
Gardens and the Chantry.

1.3.5 Developing our children and young people

1.3.5.1 Ongoing work with the Gr@nd especially their programme for 
Estuary 21.

1.3.5.2 Development of application for both Re:Generation 2031 and 
Kickstart to offer placements in digital culture and artists project 
support through Gravesham Arts Salon.

1.3.5.3 Work with Royal Opera House Bridge to develop a Creative 
Schools Network that meets once a term to discuss the cultural 
direction of local schools and where the arts and creative 
community can support.

Page 9



4

2. 2022/23 represents a great opportunity for GBC culture to press forward with the 
priorities identified in the Cultural Strategy. A full action plan is included in the 
background papers for this report and the highlights for each priority are outlined 
below

2.1 Delivering a Cultural and Creative Community

2.1.1 Further engagement with members and partners to align policies with 
cultural aspiration and regeneration

2.1.2 Full programme through the creative cluster of St Andrew’s and St 
George’s

2.1.3 Securing budget funding for grants and match funding to leverage funding 
from other sources

2.1.4 Developing work on St Andrew’s Waterfront to establish it as a destination 
area, including St Andrew’s 150

2.1.5 Increase the number of ‘pop-up’ spaces with focus on Northfleet and 
developing the plinth on the pier.

2.1.6 Exploring the potential for artists to work permanently in the market to 
increase footfall and establish arts activity.

2.1.7 Establish a drop in space in St George’s to be run for and by artists to 
include community activity

2.1.8 Apply for an artist in residence in St George’s Arts Centre to work in the 
community and develop their own practise.

2.1.9 Greater engagement with national arts organisations and funders to 
showcase Gravesham as an excellent place to make work.

2.1.10 To explore developing a volunteer network across the culture portfolio, 
building on the Woodville volunteer programme.

2.1.11 Finalising of the plans for the new venue.

2.1.12 Partnering with organisations who have enhanced digital skills to develop 
hybrid models of delivering our plans.

2.1.13 Development of the outdoor programme through enhanced infrastructure 
and use of spaces.

2.2 Supporting and developing artists and creatives

2.2.1 Preparation of future plans with partners to ensure that funding 
opportunities can be exploited in a timely and relevant way responding to 
our priorities.

2.2.2 Developing our matched funding criteria ensuring it corresponds with our 
priorities.

2.2.3 Greater engagement with arts organisations and partners outside the 
borough to establish shared visions.

Page 10



5

2.2.4 Working closely with Economic Development to support the sector and 
embed it within the regeneration programme.

2.2.5 Working with Creative Estuary to deliver and cultural placement to support 
artists and create an online diary and a dedicated culture website.

2.2.6 Building in other platforms when planning activity and embracing and 
enhancing our digital output for culture.

2.3 Establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme 

2.3.1 Apply for one more year of single funding for the Fringe festival to 
establish the final model before applying for long term funding in 2022/23

2.3.2 Identifying other spaces for activity and building the cultural events 
programme across the portfolio.

2.3.3 Building other funding bids to external organisations to ensure 
sustainability 

2.3.4 Greater and more timely partnership with partners to bake in diversity. 
Consideration given to a network.

2.3.5 Developing our digital programme to improve access and broaden the 
scope of activity

2.4 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage

2.4.1 Greater engagement with Heritage Lottery Funding bodies to develop 
funding applications.

2.4.2 Continued exploration of visitor apps to enhance the experience 

2.4.3 Exhibitions built around local exhibits in appropriate locations.

2.4.4 Development of heritage plan to bring sites to life.

2.5 Developing our children and  young people and creatively

2.5.1 Create a grants budget and a panel with specific criteria to encourage 
young artists to make work and remain in the borough.

2.5.2 Appoint Gravesham Arts Salon placement through Re:Generation 2031 
and work with Kickstart on a placement in the culture team.

2.5.3 Work more closely with The Gr@nd to establish a panel of arts 
professionals who can mentor young people wishing to enter the sector.

2.5.4 Development of Education and Outreach remit to include work across 
culture and leisure

2.5.5 Embed learning opportunities into grants funding criteria

Page 11



6

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Cultural Action Plan 2022/23

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 12



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There are no legal implications in this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The activity to date has been met through existing budgets. A report with the full 
budgetary requirements for 2022/23 will be presented.

Risk Assessment GBC has committed to the Cultural Strategy and this action plan forms part of that 
strategy and the priorities identified. There is a risk that the aspirations identified in 
the strategy would not be met were this action plan not ratified.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
no

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
yes - enhanced partnership working built into the action plan

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Commitment to Place - enhancing the cultural offer

Climate Change The Cultural Strategy and Action plan supports the climate change agenda through 
developing alternative platforms for delivery allowing for flexibillity and accessibility 
for example digital and online.

Crime and Disorder The activity and performance programmes encourage engagement from the 
community and can reduce antisocial behaviours.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital implications

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no specific implications

Page 13

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Cultural Action Plan 2022/23
Priority Activity Outcomes 20.21 22.23

Arts and culture 
embedded in council 

policies that inform future 
decisions on regeneration 

and place making

A Creative Gravesham 
ratified by council and 

cited in relevant 
documents to inform 

place making and 
regeneration

Greater engagement with 
members and partners to 
align policy with cultural 

aspiration and 
regeneration.

Recognising arts and 
culture as a way of 

bringing together and 
rebuilding communities

Arts and culture formed 
significant part of 
rebuilding out of covid 
grant applications. 
Local artists applied for 
grants from GBC culture 
to be part of the opening 
up agenda through 
Bloomin Lovely.

Full programme of arts 
activity delivered through 

the creative clusters 
including St George’s and 
St Andrews to engage the 
community in the work of 
local and visiting artists

Delivering a cultural and 
creative community

Establishing an 
overarching recognition of 

the value of arts and 
culture in the borough 

throughout council policy

Arts Partners are fully 
engaged with GBC culture 

to fulfil their potential

2 rounds of ‘Make it 
Grants’ for borough wide 
activity that all had 
community involvement at 
the centre.
Artists invited to work with 
external artists to on the 
Light Festival.

Securing funding for 
grants and match funding 

for artists to leverage 
funding from other 

sources.

Opening of St George’s 
Arts Centre

St Georges still in 
planning stages but with 

input from GBC and 
artists

Full programme of events 
from December 2021 – 
December 2022 to be 

ratified and funded
Drop in space for artists in 

adjacent unit.

Developing a cluster of 
Make It Spaces

Developing a programme 
in St Andrew’s Arts 
Centre

Space regularly used by 
artists and some 

community groups

St Andrew’s Waterfront 
activity continues. 

P
age 15



St Andrew’s 150 
celebrations including 

workshops and 
performances

Identifying other ‘Make It 
Spaces throughout the 
borough

Pop up spaces used 
including the windows of 
the pier and the railings 

on the quayside. 

Increase the pop up 
spaces to expand into 

Northfleet. Developing the 
plinth on the pier as a 
year round installation 

space.
Developing Gravesham 
Borough Market into a 
making space.

Used as an installation 
space

Explore the potential for 
funding to invite artists to 

use units to work and 
create whilst bringing in 

improved footfall through 
events and workshops.

Establishing an Artist in 
Residence Programme

Three years of funded 
activity in St George’s 

Arts Centre

Developed activity 
programme in the arts 
centre from December 

2021

Application for 3 years 
funding to invite an artist 
in residence to work from 
the arts centre creating 

activity for the community 
and developing their own 

artistic practise.
Establishing a programme 
with partners that grows 

the cultural sector 
exponentially

Expansion of the Make It 
Grants to include Bloomin’ 

Lovely artists 
commissions

To identify matched 
funding to offer artists and 

creatives to leverage in 
grants.

Developing the skills and 
diversity of our cultural 

workforce and that of our 
partners

Encouraging artists and 
arts organisations to 

relocate to Gravesham

Both Estuary 21 and The 
fringe festival attracted a 
lot of interest from artists 
from outside the borough 

to relocate. 

Greater engagement with 
national arts organisations 
to showcase Gravesham 
as an excellent place to 

work.

P
age 16



Establishing Friends of St 
Andrew’s

Creating a volunteer 
network to support 
cultural events and 

activities and develop 
knowledge within the 

sector.
Working with existing 

volunteer groups within 
the heritage sector to 

enhance skills

Some positive 
conversations with local 
residents and existing 

groups

Develop this strand 
further outside of the 

restrictions of the 
pandemic.

Establish a new theatre 
space for Gravesham that 

is fit for purpose and 
provides a community hub 

for the borough

New venue development 
– St George’s phase 2

Ongoing conversations 
with developers and 

consultants

Finalisation of plans that 
ensure that the new 
space has artistic 

aspiration including the 
creating of new work and 
contemporary activity that 

responds to the post 
pandemic world. 

‘comet’ workstream Exploration of the ideas to 
ensure that events and 
activities have multiple 

strands

Further work to identify 
digital partners and artists 
who have experience in 
delivering hybrid models 

of activity.

Developing a cultural 
environment that is no 

longer solely dependent 
on and confined by 

access to buildings and 
venues

Enhancing our outside 
spaces to create a 
network of possible 

venues.

Strong programming of 
Fort Gardens from May to 

September

Development of the 
outdoor programme 
through enhanced 

infrastructure and use of 
other spaces.EG St 
Andrew’s Gardens.

Supporting and 
developing artists and 

creatives

Establishing a grant 
funding programme for 

local artists and creatives

Strategic response to 
funding opportunities

Ongoing conversations 
with arts partners to 
position ourselves 

appropriately for potential 
bids

Preparation of aspirational 
plans with partners so that 

the sector is more 
prepared

P
age 17



New work made in the 
borough

New pieces created in the 
borough from partners 

supported by GBC – 2 x 
Daisy Farris Dance. 1 x 

Gravesham Arts Salon, 1 
x England’s creative 

Coast, 1 x Estuary 21, 1 x 
LV21

More strategic approach 
to matched funding 
criteria to ensure it 

responds to our priorities

Clarity of vision from GBC Regular meetings of panel 
to discuss ongoing grant 

programme

Establish a matched 
funding programme with 
regular panel meetings 
and strategic direction.

Matched funding 
opportunities

Good start with artists 
with established artists eg 
Daisy Farris able to use 
GBC support within Arts 

Council England 
applications

Matched funding grants 
budget within the cultural 

department and 
encouragement and 
advice for artists to 

access.

Supporting local artists 
and organisations to 

leverage funding from 
national bodies to support 
work developed in and for 

Gravesham.
Establish arts and cultural 

hub of North Kent
Initial inroads into 

reaching out to artists to 
recognise the potential of 

making work in 
Gravesham through 

Estuary 21, the Estuary 
Associate programme and  
England’s Creative Coast.

Greater engagement with  
arts partners outside of 
the borough  including 
Arts Council England, 

Creative Estuary, Tilbury 
on the Thames to 

establish some shared 
cultural ideology.

Working with our creative 
community to help 

freelance practitioners to 
grow their practise and 
take SME’s to the next 

level supporting 
sustainability.

More creative businesses 
in Gravesham supporting 

the local economy and 
creating employment 

opportunities.

Engagement through 
external activities eg 

Estuary 21 and fringe has 
given higher profile to the 
potential of working with 

GBC. Economic 
development support for 
local arts organisations 
has been recognised as 

Working more closely with 
partners and other 

organisations in Northfleet 
to support the arts and 

creative sector.

P
age 18



highly effective in 
enabling them to survive 

the pandemic.
Work with Creative 

Estuary through Re-
Generation 2031 to 
appoint a cultural 

apprentice to develop the 
diary.

Creating an 
directory/website of 
assets, artists and 

creatives

Clear direction for internal 
and external 

organisations to find out 
what is happening and 

what is planned

Ongoing meetings of 
Gravesham Arts Salon 

networking group. 
Discussions around 

developing the website to 
establish and cultural 
diary. Estuary Fringe 

offered a potential 
framework of what is 

possible
Explore the idea of a 
culture website that 

includes all our activity 
and that of our partners.

Ongoing discussions with 
the developers and 

consultants to ensure that 
the spaces are open and 

versatile.

Considering all options 
when planning activity, 
developing the digital 

skills within sector and our 
partners.

Development of the live 
performance sector to be 

more flexible and 
responsive to change.

Flexibility built into the 
new venue

Develop the outdoor 
programme and reinforce 
the importance of a hybrid 

programme.
Establishing a vibrant and 

aspirational arts and 
cultural events 

programme

Building on existing 
programmes to establish 
an annual festival of arts 

and culture in the summer 
months

Annual Fringe Festival Successful funding 
application made to Arts 
Council England and part 

of the associate 
programme for Estuary 

21.

Plan to apply for one 
more year of annual 

funding to establish the 
shape of the fringe festival 
across spaces and genres 

post pandemic

P
age 19



Full outdoor programme 
using council venues

Summer programme in 
Fort Gardens – well 

received and sold out.

Exploration of other 
spaces post pandemic 

and with greater 
infrastructure.

Value for our residents Arts Council England 
funding for fringe

Additional applications 
including to the Heritage 

Lottery Fund and 
partnering with arts 

organisation to maximise 
opportunities

Accessing other funding 
streams to build resilience 

and sustainability

Robust programme that 
can withstand external 

pressures
Ensuring that the diversity 
that defines the borough 
is reflected in all activity.

Genuinely diverse activity 
for residents

Successful funded 
Windrush event. Ongoing 

relationship with 
Gurdwara through 

England’s Creative Coast.
Partnerships with GTown 

Talents on Fringe and 
external events. 
Partnership with 

Gravesham Pride on 1st 
pride event in August 

2021

Greater partnerships to be 
actively approached. 
Network event to be 

considered.

Encouraging and 
supporting the 
enthusiasm for accessing 
culture across new 
platforms to develop 
live/as live festivals.

New opportunities to 
make and participate in 

arts activities

Increased workshops 
through Make it arts 
Grants and Bloomin 

Lovely artists grants all of 
which include community 
activity. Online workshops 

as part of fringe and 

Developing digital 
programme to improve 

access and broaden the 
scope of activity

P
age 20



Woodville outreach 
through joined up working 
with Sports & Recreation 

offered arts workshops for 
the first time as part of 

2021 Summer Fun 
programme in the Fort 

Gardens and Heritage site 
involvement

Creating a culture card 
offering residents access 
to cultural and artistic 
activity.

Research and 
Development funding bid

Applications for 
appropriate funding to be 

explored.

Ensuring our events are 
working towards a low 
carbon borough

Arts and cultural activity 
makes a positive 

contribution to the low 
carbon agenda

Arts grants and 
workshops have had 
recycling focus and 

sustainable outcomes

Building in sustainability 
as a criteria for Make it 
Grants and matched 
funding applications.

Enhancing and promoting 
our assets and heritage

Embed creative delivery 
and learning opportunities 
into our open spaces and 
built heritage

Regular activity in our 
heritage portfolio

Milton Chantry 700 
activity undertaken and 

successful grant 
installation on site. Fort 
Gardens installation as 
part of Bloomin’ Lovely. 

Regular activity at St 
Andrew’s Arts Centre and 
work created to highlight 
it’s historic importance 

including 12 points of Tide 
a new opera.

Offered ‘live’ character 
sessions at Milton 

Chantry and developed 
new internal displays and  
engaging visitor activities

Greater engagement with 
Heritage Lottery Fund to 

develop grants

P
age 21



Volunteering opportunities 
in the heritage sites

Use of Woodville 
volunteers at heritage 

events

Explore the potential of a 
pool of heritage/cultural 

volunteers.

Develop the Discover 
Gravesham website

Exploration of apps to 
enhance the visitor 

experience.

Continued working with 
app developers and the 
tourism section to create 
an entertaining and user 

friendly experience.

Creating new ways to 
interpret our unique 
heritage

Create exhibitions with 
our artefacts

Recreation of the Barrack 
Room display at Milton 
Chantry. Live historical 

interactions and 
workshops as part of the 

Summer Fun and 
Bloomin’ lovely 

programme of events

Curation of exhibitions 
around specific artefacts 
in appropriate locations

Develop an annual series 
of events to showcase our 
heritage in a unique way

Heritage Festival Milton Chantry 700, St 
Andrew’s 150 and 

showcase of the sites 
through Make It Grants 

Development of a 
heritage plan to bring the 

sites to life

P
age 22



and Bloomin Lovely artist 
commissions. 

Involvement in the 2021 
National Heritage Open 

Days (HODS) programme
Enabling our built heritage 
locations to enhance the 
visitor experience

Volunteer Training Working with the existing 
groups to enhance the 

experience

Exploring the digital and 
hybrid experience to 

showcase the portfolio
Develop a specific funding 
stream of grants for young 
people which can be used 
for matched funding from 
external organisations

Young artists located in 
the borough

Work with The Gr@nd on 
fringe and Estuary 21

Create a budget and a 
panel with specific criteria 

to encourage young 
people to train and remain 

in the borough

Training opportunities in 
the arts sector

Conversations with 
Kickstart and Re:Gen 31 
to establish a meaningful 

placement in culture

Appoint Gravesham Arts 
Salon placement and 

work with Kickstart on an 
arts placement in the 

culture team

Working with youth 
groups to ensure that our 
young people are given 
the chance to work 
effectively within the 
creative sector. Advisory service for 

young people
Work more closely with 

the Gr@nd to establish a 
panel of arts professionals 

who can mentor young 
people wishing to enter 

the sector.
Working with schools and 
young people to develop 
artists in all genres for the 
future.

New working practises in 
all areas

Woodville outreach and 
education in schools and 

creating a workshop 
programme throughout 
the pandemic. Royal 

Opera House bridge and 
cultural learning panel

Development of 
Education and outreach 

remit to work closely 
across culture and leisure

Developing our children 
and young people 

creatively

Working with artists and 
creatives in the borough 

Opportunities for young 
people to gain 

Discussions with arts 
organisations regarding 

Embed learning 
opportunities into funding 

P
age 23



to develop an 
educational/learning offer.

employment in the 
creative industries

placements post 
pandemic

and matched funding 
criteria

Working with schools to 
enable all young people to 
experience live 
performance throughout 
our programmes and 
workshops.

Live performance 
embedded in schools and 

colleges

Schools engagement 
through education and 

outreach to engage with 
both live and filmed 

content throughout the 
year

P
age 24



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Communities and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 14 September 2021

Reporting officer: Community Involvement Officer

Subject: Community Engagement Strategy Action Plan Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update the committee of progress against the Community Engagement Strategy 

Recommendations:
Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee are asked to note the report and updated action 
plan. 

1. Introduction

1.1 In February 2021, the Community Engagement Strategy was adopted. The 
strategy set out 4 main objectives:

o Being a Listening Council
o Empowering Residents and Communities
o Supporting Community Organisations
o Building Cohesive Communities

2. Action Plan Update

2.1 An action plan was developed to ensure delivery against each of the main 
objectives.  A copy of the action plan with an update from February 2021 is 
attached to this report as appendix II.

2.2 Following adoption of the strategy in February the actions have been developed to 
include deadlines for monitoring and lead officers.  The pandemic continues to 
impact on the work and the actions have been adapted where possible to meet 
emerging needs and opportunities. 

3. Recommendations

3.1 The report is for information. 

Page 25 Agenda Item 6



2

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Appendix I Community Engagement Strategy 2020-24 

Appendix II Action Plan update

Page 26



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications. This report provides an update of actions to deliver 
the Community Engagement Strategy 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The report is for information only.

Risk Assessment The report is for information only

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – it identifies actions that provides focus and action on under-represented 
and minority groups and on building community cohesion. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place – Connected Community 

Crime and Disorder N/A this report is for information only 

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A this report is for information only 

Page 27

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



A LISTENING 
COUNCIL
Community Engagement  
Strategy for Gravesham 

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

2021-2024

Page 29



B A C K G R O U N D FOREWORD TO 
GRAVESHAM 
COMMUNIT Y  
ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

The people who make up our communities 
are fundamental to making Gravesham such 
a fantastic place to live, work and enjoy.  

The council and this Administration is 
committed to being a listening council 
and in touch with its residents to ensure 
we deliver their priorities. To achieve this 
community engagement needs to be 
at the heart of what we do so that we 
can all work together to deliver effective 
services and build supportive and cohesive 
communities.

Our relationship with local residents and 
those who work and visit our Borough 
is crucial to all of us here at the council.  
During these times of unprecedented 
uncertainty, change and challenges, it is 
more important than ever to build respect 
and trust between the council and the 
people of Gravesham.

Llistening and engagement is a two way 
street and we are committed not just to 
listening, but to providing feedback and 
evidence of listening and actions that arise 
from engagement’

This strategy and accompanying action 
plan will outline how the council will 
build on the existing strengths of our 
local communities, facilitate and support 
opportunities for all to have a voice, 
and help develop the skills of local 
communities and organisations that are 
essential in building the social capital that 
brings us all together. 

02 Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox  
Cabinet Member for Community 
and Leisure

For the purposes of this strategy we 
consider community engagement as a 
process that brings people together over a 
shared connection which could be a place, 
an interest, or an identity. 

There have been many drives over the years 
to empower residents to be more involved in 
the decisions that affect their lives and the 
services they receive, with varying degrees 
of success. Community engagement actively 
encourages participation and, as a lower 
tier local authority, Gravesham Borough 
Council is in a strong position to bring its 
local community and partners together to 
achieve this.

People are our greatest resource and, 
during these challenging and changing 
times, there have been tremendous 
examples of neighbourliness, public 
spirit and co-operation. By developing a 
community engagement strategy we have 
an opportunity to assess and learn from 
the past, whilst looking ahead to future 
challenges to strengthen our relationship 
with local people and help support our 
corporate objectives.  

This strategy is ambitious but realistic 
and to ensure it remains relevant, will be 
reviewed annually.

03Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

 
Our Vision
Our vision is that Gravesham Borough Council will be:

A listening, engaging and responsive Council that  
involves our community and makes a difference.

P
age 30



04 Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 05Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

This strategy sets out four core objectives 
as the framework for developing community 
engagement. These are:

Being a Listening Council

Empowering Residents and 
Communities

Supporting Community 
Organisations

Building Cohesive Communities

Being a Listening Council.  
The Council is committed to being a listening 
council reaching out to all our communities. We 
will develop this priority through the following: 

• Establishing clear communication to the  
 public on those opportunities where we   
 need input from our communities to shape  
 our priorities and services supporting the  
 Council’s Communication Strategy.

• The Council will act as a platform for   
 collating information and issues for  
 Gravesham residents and signpost to   
 appropriate agencies.

• Feeding back to the community on the   
 information received from consultations and  
 other information fed into the council, how  
 that information has been used and the   
 difference made.  Where action has not been  
 taken this needs to be clearly communicated.  

• Providing support for Elected Members   
 and officers in developing effective listening  
 and engagement opportunities to help the  
 council be more responsive to local needs and  
 recognising the key bridging role they hold.

• Education, communication, information   
 and advice will be central to the work of this  
 strategy and action plan.

•  Not all items raised with us will be within our 
power to tackle; some will fall to colleagues 
in other organisations such as Kent County 
Council, Highways England, Kent Police, 
the NHS etc. Where this is the case we will 
pass feedback on to the relevant authority 
promptly for their response.

Empowering Residents and 
Communities.  
Supporting and developing individuals and 
neighbourhoods with the tools and skills to take 
a more active role in their local area, leading to 
more empowered residents and communities. 

The  council will support this aim by:  

• Supporting volunteers and community  
 leaders with relevant training and mentoring  
 opportunities.

• Encouraging collaborative working at a very  
 local level supported by Ward Members,  
 officers and relevant service providers to  
 help build ownership, co-operation and pride  
 in the local area.

• Providing clear opportunities and processes  
 for residents to influence local decision   
 making.

• Working in partnership with other   
 

 authorities and agencies to deliver for   
 local communities.

• Work closely and listen to thematic,   
 interest and specialist groups and   
 individuals to enhance the Borough’s   
 offer to residents, businesses and visitors  
 especially in the arts, culture, tourism,   
 heritage, sports and leisure sectors.

Supporting Community Organisations.  
Community organisations play a central role 
in facilitating and developing community 
action and building strong social networks.  
The council will provide support by:

• Establishing and supporting a network   
 for local community organisations  
 including a register of all community   
 organisations in Gravesham.

• Align financial support for local community  
 organisations to this strategy, formalising  
 the Community Engagement and Events  
 Grants Scheme and also run a Civic Events  
 Protocol which will be administered by the  
 Council.

• Developing opportunities for community  
 organisations, groups and clubs to engage  
 with the council.  
• Provide dedicated support to those groups  

 and representatives from seldom heard   
 communities and demographics including  
 continued support for Gravesham Youth  
 Council, the 50+ forum and Gravesham   
 Access Group. 

• Help support community groups be   
 sustainable via ongoing and external   
 funding opportunities.

Building Cohesive Communities. 
Gravesham is a Borough that is recognised 
and celebrated for its diverse and cohesive 
communities. Community engagement is 
essential in working effectively with diverse 
communities, neighbourhoods and interest 
groups.  The council is committed to:

• Ensuring it has appropriate and inclusive  
 opportunities to facilitate engagement   
 and build trust with its ethnic minority   
 communities and communities of interest.   
 This includes the LGBT+ community,   
 Armed Forces, disability representatives   
 and faith communities. 

• Develop the council’s diverse community  
 events programme.

• Support educational and awareness   
 raising activities to build better    
 understanding and cohesiveness.

S T R AT E G I C  O B J E C T I V E S

P
age 31



06 Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of 07Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Corporate Plan:
The Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023 sets out 
the ambitions for the council and the actions 
being taken to achieve this,  working towards 
the overall vision to ‘deliver a Gravesham 
to be proud of’.  The plan was a result of 
working with and listening to communities 
to understand areas of the council work that 
were of greatest importance to the local 
community.  

There are three objectives – People, Place 
and Progress.  This community commitment 
sits under the Place objective with a specific 
commitment to ‘Develop a cohesive and 
resilient community’. 

As a Council, all work delivered links back to 
the Corporate Plan and can often cut across 
more than one objective. Whilst the strategy 
links directly to developing a cohesive and 
resilient community, it also supports many 
other objectives including creating stronger 
neighbourhoods, improving the local 
environment, improving resident well-being, 
and enhancing the borough’s cultural offer. 

Equalities Duty:

The Equalities Act 2010 legally protects 
people from discrimination in the workplace 
and wider society.  As a local authority, the 
council is required to prepare and publish 
one or more objectives to show how we will 
achieve the aims of the general equality duty.  
The general equality duty requires public 
authorities, in the exercise of their functions, 
to have due regard to the need to:

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment and  
 victimisation and any other conduct that is  
 prohibited by or under the Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between  
 people who share a relevant protected   
 characteristic and people who do not   
 share it. 

• Foster good relations between people who  
 share a relevant protected characteristic  
 and those who do not share it.

This duty directly impacts and guides 
our community engagement activity to 
ensure that our actions assist and address 
inequalities.

As a council we have recently reviewed 
and revised our Equalities Objectives.  The 
Equalities Framework for Local Government 
was used to help identify the new objectives 
which dedicates one of its five themes to 
“involving your community” and emphasises 
the importance of obtaining the views of a 
wide range of people who live and work in 
the area with focused efforts made to those 
who are marginalised and vulnerable.  The 
evolving action plan will link with and support 
this Community Engagement Strategy. 

Communication Strategy

Gravesham Borough Council is committed 
to delivering a Gravesham to be proud of for 
residents, businesses and visitors and building 
a strong and trusted brand. The effectiveness 
of how the vision is delivered will be 
determined to a significant extent by the 
quality of communications and engagement. 
Cabinet recently considered a corporate 
Communications Strategy which focusses 
on internal and external communication, 
as well as directly linking to this Community 
Engagement Strategy through ensuring 
appropriate engagement and involvement of 
audiences.

Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 
2019-2023:

The council’s Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 
identifies Prevention and Community 
Involvement as the primary objective to help 
stop ASB from happening or escalating and 
is one of 4 overarching priorities.  

Within the action plan there are specific 
actions where community engagement has 
a leading role in supporting delivery of the 
objective:

• Reducing acts of ASB directed against the  
 person

A Creative Gravesham 2020-2025:

Our Arts & Cultural Strategy outlines the 
council’s commitments to build on the strong 
legacy of community events and support 
creativity and cultural cohesion within the 
borough. 

Community engagement has a significant 
role in supporting the priority of growing 
a cultural and creative community and 
establishing a vibrant and aspirational 
arts and cultural events programme.  In 
particular:

• Developing a cultural environment that   
 is no longer solely confined by access to   
 buildings and venues.  

• Creating a volunteer network to support  
 cultural events and the heritage sector

• Ensuring that the diversity that defines the  
 borough is reflected in all our activities

S T R AT E G I C  P O S I T I O N  
&  K E Y  P O L I C I E S
For the purposes of this strategy it is useful to set the strategic position of the Council and 
links with other key policies which will support delivery of this work. 

P
age 32



The Council uses a range of engagement 
methods from traditional questionnaire to 
events and activities. Our aim is to use the 
most appropriate method of engagement 
that is fit for purpose and will develop further 
in the associated action plan. 

This means that we will:

• Use the most appropriate method of  
 engagement, taking into account the   
 purpose of the engagement, the required  
 reach and nature of involvement and   
 complexity of information being provided 

• Make sure the methods we use are   
 accessible to everyone who wants to take  
 part

• Identify preferred methods of    
 communication for different activities and  
 groups
 
• Guide colleagues and partners as to the   
 best methods of engagement and what   
 has worked well with different    
 communities so that we can use methods  
 we know are effective

• Evaluate methods and make changes in  
 response to feedback 

• Regular reports will take place on the   
 progress of the Strategy and Action   
 Plan to the Cabinet Member for  
 Community and Leisure and via the   
 Community and Leisure Cabinet    
 Committee 

• We will use our various communications  
 channels to let people know what we have  
 done to address concerns raised with us.  
 These will include direct contact via email,  
 via our social media channels and through  
 press releases to local media. All feedback  
 will be delivered in a timely, clear and   
 concise way.

08 Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

M E T H O D S  O F  E N G A G E M E N T
The following analysis sets out the current strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats in 
achieving our vision and delivering against this strategy. This analysis will be part of the review 
of the overall strategy and attention will be paid to how best to address some of the weaknesses 
as part of our efforts to continually develop and improve engagement as a whole.
 

STRENGTHS WEAKNESSES
  
A diverse community who are keen to engage  Up to date engagement databases of   
  community organisations, local groups,   
Officers and Members who recognise and value  residents and businesses
the importance of true community engagement
  Gaps in community leader representation
Local community organisations who support  from some groups
active engagement and are able to advise on
changing community needs and issues Little capacity or lack of skills amongst some
 groups to fully engage in opportunities with the
Local community groups keen to support a Council, e.g. leading specific activities and events
diverse programme of events and activities 
that raise awareness and support education 
and cohesion  
 
Active parish councils in the rural areas of the 
borough (19% of the Gravesham population)    
 
 

OPPORTUNITIES THREATS
 
Ability to grow a network of contacts for  Unrealistic expectation of engagement 
engagement, from community organisations  opportunities or outcomes
to local residents
    
Develop representation from under-represented  Funding challenges to support local delivery
and seldom heard groups  of activities

Increase feedback about what the Council has Limited officer resource unable to meet wider 
done in response to engagement  demand for engagement activities

S W O T  A N A LY S I S

07Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 33



10 Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

A C T I O N  P L A N

11Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

G L O S S A R Y  O F  T E R M S

                Action                                                  Expected outcomes

1 Develop and publish a programme of public 
consultations, including statutory responsibilities

Public, staff and elected members are all informed and 
able to plan ahead leading to improved responses

2 Develop and publish a protocol for how the council 
collates, responds and uses community feedback 
and information

Improved accountability of the council to help build trust

3 Promote how to contact the council and your local 
councillor

Improved awareness and contacts with the council and 
Elected Members

4 Build on and support links with the six Parish 
Councils in the borough recognising the crucial 
engagement role they play for their communities 
ensuring they are an integral part of the council’s 
community engagement strategy

Rural residents and parish councillors are supported by 
the borough council and able to share examples of good 
practice 

5 Align the strategy to complement and support the 
Council’s Communication Strategy

Consistency in messaging and ensuring communication 
and education are at the core of the strategy

Empowering Residents and Communities

6 Implementing and developing the Street Champion 
Scheme network of litter picking volunteers.

Consistency in messaging and ensuring communication 
and education are at the core of the strategy

7 Using the Community Cohesion Atlas for 
Gravesham  and Community Safety intelligence 
identify a priority street/ neighbourhood for targeted 
action

Increase in pride and ownership of the local area

8 Developing tools and processes for the public 
to engage with the council building on recent 
successes of using virtual tools during the 
pandemic but also recognising the digital divide

Increased engagement with a broader representation of 
the community

9 Developing links and mechanisms with local 
services, organisations and agencies to support 
and address local issues

Increased awareness of and influence in local services.

Supporting Community Organisations

10 Develop an On-line community organisation and 
representative database. When seeking consent 
to be part of the database, information will be 
collected that will include preferred method of 
engagement and areas of expertise.

Increased contacts with community organisations.  Staff 
more confident to make appropriate referrals

11 Develop Community Organisation Network to share 
information, opportunities and issues. 

More supported and empowered community 
organisations

12 Identify and develop support for the sector to 
include funding opportunities, training, collaborative 
working

Increase capacity and viability of the sector

Building Cohesive Communities

13 Review current links with BAME Community 
representatives and communities of interest and 
identify any gaps that need focus

Improved contacts with Gravesham’s excluded 
communities

14 Develop the council’s calendar of diverse commu-
nity events providing support to community leaders 
and linking with relevant community organisations.

Improved sense of pride and belonging in Gravesham, 
improved understanding and tolerance

15 Ensure that feedback is given in a timely way. Improve reaction time to any issues raised and help  
develop our services accordingly.

Term or phrase Description

BAME The acronym stands for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic and is used in the UK to 
describe non-white people. 

Collaboration The process of two or more people or organisations working together to achieve 
a common goal or complete a task

Communities of Interest A group of people who have shared identity, experiences, characteristics or 
common interests.  For example Afro-Caribbean community, Armed Forces, 
homeless community.

Community Cohesion A community where people feel that they belong and are comfortable mixing with 
people from different backgrounds.  The process of developing trust and building 
a shared understanding and common values

Community Empowerment The process of enabling communities to increase control over the factors and 
decisions that shape their lives.

Community Engagement The process of working collaboratively as a community with a shared interest 
such as where they live, to address issues affecting the wellbeing of these peo-
ple.

Diversity Acknowledging and recognising the differences between people and groups of 
people and placing a positive value on those differences. It applies to everyone

Seldom heard Ensuring attempts to engage are inclusive and that effort and focus is prioritised 
to build relationships with groups outside of the “usual suspects”, developing the 
skills to effectively involve and listen.

Social Capital The value placed on the network of relationships among people or groups that 
help society to function. 

Under represented groups Those groups who are under represented in consultations, as service users etc. 
according to the local community profile. 

P
age 34



Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Gravesham Borough Council

Civic Centre
Windmill Street
Gravesend
DA12 1AU

www.gravesham.gov.uk

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Engagement Strategy Action Plan 2021-24

Action Expected outcomes Lead Officer
Delivery
Dates Updates Aug 2021

Being a Listening Council

1
Develop and publish a programme of public
consultations, including statutory responsibilities

Public, staff and elected members are
all informed and able to plan ahead
leading to improved responses

Community Invovlement Officer
with support from
Communication Mangager and
service managers Dec-21

Key consultations are clearly posted on the council website
front page.   In discussion with Comms manager to develop.
Requires updates from Service Managers.

2

Develop and publish a protocol for how the council
collates, responds and uses community feedback and
information

Improved accountability of the council
to help build trust

Communication Manager with
support from Leader and
service managers Dec-21

Discussions have been held.  This is a priority for leadership.
Community Involvment Officer to explore examples of good
practice.

3
Promote how to contact the council and your local
councillor

Improved awareness and contacts with
the council and Elected Members Communication Manager Sep-21

Your Borough editions always include up to date contact
information in an easy to read format.   Details can also be
found on the Gravesham Borough Council website.  Plans in
development to develop tweets between residents and
councillors

4

Build on and support links with the six Parish Councils in
the borough recognising the crucial engagement role
they play for their communities ensuring they are an
integral part of the council’s community engagement
strategy

Rural residents and parish councillors
are supported by the borough council
and able to share examples of good
practice

Community Involvement Officer
and committee services Sep-21

Contact has been developed and maintained throughout the
pandemic and lockdowns.  Support provided for community
litter picking, and to nominate community awards.  Include in
VCS networking events.

5
Align the strategy to complement and support the
Council’s Communication Strategy

Consistency in messaging and
ensuring communication and education
are at the core of the strategy

Community Involvement Officer
and Communications Manager Apr-21 Regular contact maintained between officers.

Empowering Residents and Communities

6
Implementing and developing the Street Champion
Scheme network of litter picking volunteers.

Local residents take a more active role
in their area

Community Involvement Officer
and Waste Projects Officer Apr-21

Scheme was rolled out in April 2020 during the pandemic
following details in Spring 2020 Your Borough.  We now have
186 volunteers covering  163 streets

7

Using the Community Cohesion Atlas for Gravesham
and Community Safety intelligence identify a priority
street/ neighbourhood for targeted action

Increase in pride and ownership of the
local area Community Involvement Officer Oct-21

Initial discussions have been held with the Enforcment Officer
to identify streets for potential activity.

8

Developing tools and processes for the public to engage
with the council building on recent successes of using
virtual tools during the pandemic but also recognising the
digital divide

Increased engagement with a broader
representation of the community

Community Involvement Officer
working with digital team and
comms Dec-21

Opportunities to develop social media opportunities with the
appointment of a new Comms Officer. CAB Digital Divide
Partnership Project ready for implementation.

9

Developing links and mechanisms with local services,
organisations and agencies to support and address local
issues

Increased awareness of and influence
in local services. Community Involvement Officer

Sep 21
(networkin
g
opportunit
y)

Throughout the pandemic we have developed and supported
links with our local organisations to provide covid support to
those in need.  These links are being developed with the
lifting of restrictions and services being opened up.

Supporting Community Organisations

P
age 37



10

Develop an On-line community organisation and
representative database. When seeking consent to be
part of the database, information will be collected that will
include preferred method of engagement and areas of
expertise.

Increased contacts with community
organisations.  Staff more confident to
make appropriate referrals Community Involvement Officer Oct-21

Are collating existing contact lists and circulating a new
contact form to develop a comprehensive, accessible and up
to date system.

11
Develop Community Organisation Network to share
information, opportunities and issues.

More supported and empowered
community organisations

Community Involvement Officer
and CVS officer Jul-21

Small virtual network was initiated in Oct 2020.  Now looking
to extend and develop with a pt worker now employed at the
CVS. An event is schedule for before Mar 22

12
Identify and develop support for the sector to include
funding opportunities, training, collaborative working

Increase capacity and viability of the
sector

Community Involvement and
CVS Officer Mar-22

This work has been included in an SLA with CVS NWK who
have employed a worker.

Building Cohesive Communities

13

Review current links with BAME Community
representatives and communities of interest and identify
any gaps that need focus

Improved contacts with Gravesham’s
excluded communities Community Involvement Officer Oct-21

Links have been well used and developed throughout the
pandemic.  To be reviewed and updated as part of the
evaluation and development of this action plan

14

Develop the council’s calendar of diverse community
events providing support to community leaders and
linking with relevant community organisations.

Improved sense of pride and belonging
in Gravesham, improved
understanding and tolerance Community Involvement Officer Dec-21

Events calendar has been impacted by the pandemic but
significant events have still been celebrated and noted.  The
development and rollout of the community events fund has
provided an opportunity to reach out to community leaders.
The flag flying schedule for 2022 will be updated in the
autumn.  A calendar of key religious festivals has been
provided for management team, comms.

P
age 38



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 14 September 2021

Reporting officer: Community Involvement Officer

Subject: Equalities Objectives and Action Plan Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update the Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee of progress of the Equalities 
Policy, Objectives and Action Plan.

Recommendations:
Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee are asked to note the report.

1. Introduction

1.1 In February 2021, the council’s Equalities Policy, Objectives and Action Plan was 
adopted. The policy sets out two main objectives and four themes.  The objectives 
are:

o Understanding our communities and workforce and how people could be 
disadvantaged or discriminated against because of a protected characteristic.

o Building a cohesive and inclusive borough as a service provider, employer 
and community leader. 

1.2 The actions are themed as follows:

 Understanding and working with our communities

 Leadership and organisational commitment

 Responsive services and customer care

 Diverse and engaged council

2. Action Plan Update

2.1 An action plan was developed to ensure delivery against each of the main 
objectives.  A copy of the action plan with an update from June 2021 is attached 
to this report as appendix II

Page 39 Agenda Item 7



2

2.2 Progress has been made against many of the actions whilst others are more 
complex involving input from a range of services. 

3. Recommendations

3.1 The report is for information 

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Appendix I Gravesham BC Equality Policy and Objectives

Appendix II Gravesham Equalities Action Plan

Page 40



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Equality Strategy helps the council deliver and meet its obligations under the 
Equalities Act 2010 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The report is for information only.

Risk Assessment The report is for information only

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes as the Equalities Strategy is the overarching document that guides council 
work ensuring that the council is meeting its legal requirements and is 
promoting equality. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place –Connected Community
#3 Progress – Strong Leadership

Crime and Disorder N/A this report is for information only 

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications

Page 41

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A this report is for information only 

Page 42



1

Gravesham Borough Council

Equality Policy 

1. Introduction

Gravesham Borough Council recognises and values the diversity of its communities,   
workforce and Members. 

This policy outlines our commitment to developing opportunities for inclusion and 
cohesion so that everyone feels they can contribute and participate in the social, 
cultural and economic life of the Borough. 

Under the Equality Act 2010 public authorities have legal duties to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it.

The act sets out a list of protected characteristics:  

 age
 disability
 gender reassignment
 marriage and civil partnership
 pregnancy and maternity
 race
 religion or belief
 sex
 sexual orientation.  

2. Equality Policy Aims and Vision

The council acknowledges and welcomes its legal duties and is proud to commit its 
ambitions to not only exceed its statutory duties but to deliver positive outcomes 
across it services. 

This policy provides a clear commitment to achieving equality of opportunity in all of 
our activities including in the delivery of services to the community, as an employer 
and as a community leader.  

We understand equality to be about fair and equal treatment for all but that this may 
require responding to individuals or groups differently to meet their needs or address 
differing levels of disadvantage and discrimination.  

Page 43



2

3. Council Equality Objectives and commitments

Under the Public Sector Equality Duty, the council is required to publish information 
each year to demonstrate compliance with the duty and to set at least one equality 
objective every four years. 

The council’s equality objectives have been revised and form an integral part of the 
new equality policy.  These are not limited and can be revised and expanded to take 
account of emerging needs and local priorities. 

The objectives for 2021-24 are:

 Understanding our communities and workforce and how people could be 
disadvantaged or discriminated against because of a protected characteristic

 Building a cohesive and inclusive borough as a service provider, employer 
and community leader

The Council will:

 Collect and publish information annually in the Community Data Profile which 
will enable Members, officers and services to be better informed about the 
make up of the communities they serve

 Develop council systems to capture reliable equality data which will inform 
decision making, ensuring a clear understanding of service users or, of 
services which are not being fully accessed by some groups of the 
community, thereby enabling further work to understand these gaps

 Deliver effective engagement to obtain the views of a wide cross-section of 
people who live and work in the Borough; ensuring two way dialogue and 
active involvement in matters that are important or affect the wider community

 Encourage participation in local democracy from under-represented groups to 
ensure all voices are heard and there is a clear understanding of the needs 
and views of the whole community

 Appoint a Member Champion to support Political and Executive commitment 
to reducing inequality, ensuring Equalities is at the heart of services and 
decisions.

 Set and publish annual equalities objectives for the Council, meeting our duty 
under the Equality Act and ensuring ongoing commitment and focus of our 
responsibilities 

 Support a robust Equality Impact Assessment for all key decisions and 
service planning; ensuring due regard has been given to any potential impacts 
arising as a result of those decisions

Page 44



3

 Produce an annual report assessing and evidencing the delivery of equality 
objectives across the council; ensuring transparency, learning and 
improvement in line with our commitment

 Integrate equalities objectives into service planning; ensuring equalities is 
embedded in service delivery at all levels

 Monitor service delivery to ensure all services are accessible and inclusive; 
identifying barriers and taking steps to address them

 Engaging our service users to identify improvements and ensure services 
meet the needs of all residents

 Encourage diversity within Elected  Members and our workforce, 
representative of the local community and to collate and publish workforce 
data

 Ensure our workforce strategies encourage a supportive and inclusive 
working environment and present a range of accessible learning and 
development opportunities to support councillors and officers in achieving 
equality objectives and outcomes

 Build a positive health and wellbeing culture throughout the Council

The Equalities Objectives Action Plan within this policy, sets out how we will deliver 
and achieve these objectives. This work his has been developed to support the 
Equality Framework for Local Government which helps councils to plan, implement 
and deliver real equality outcomes for employees and the community.    

4. Monitoring and review

This council has implemented a “Golden Thread” to help deliver on its ambitions for 
the Borough.  This is a continuous cycle connecting the corporate aims, policy 
framework and delivery plans of the council, with the actions of Members, officers 
and partners at all levels.  This Equalities Policy is an integral part of this cycle. 

Progress of work to deliver against the action plan will be regularly reviewed through 
an officer working group and reported annually to the Council’s Management Team 
Committee and Cabinet.  

Page 45



4

Equalities Statement and Objectives 2021-24

Overarching objectives

Objective 1 – Understanding our communities and workforce and how people could be disadvantaged or discriminated against because of a 
protected characteristic

Objective 2 – Building a cohesive and inclusive borough as a service provider, employer and community leader

Action Plan:  developed from the Equality Framework for Local Government (EFLG)

Action Why are we doing it Lead Officer Deadline EFLG 
2020

Understanding and Working with your communities
1 Collect and publish relevant, proportionate and 

appropriate information in the Community Data 
Profile.  

Provide information about 
communities needs to help identify 
priorities for the local area

Corporate 
Performance 
Manager

Apr 2021 1

2 Review the information council systems 
capture in relation to users to enable better 
understanding of who is / is not accessing 
service 

Identify gaps in service access and understand 
the reasons for this; with a specific view on 
whether underrepresentation is as a result of a 
policy/service condition creating barriers.

To ensure the council provides 
services fairly across all community 
groups.

Due consideration needs to be 
given to GDPR and ensure that only 
appropriate information is collected

Town Centre and 
Cultural Services 
Manager to 
develop with input 
from WMT

Jun 2021 2

3 Effective engagement to ensure the views of a 
wide cross-section of people who live and work 
in the area are obtained.

To align work with the Community 
Engagement Strategy 

To build positive community 
relations by enabling and supporting 
the community to influence local 
decisions.  
Align with the Community 
Engagement Action Plan 

Community 
Involvement Officer

Ongoing 3

P
age 46



5

4 Support participation from under-represented 
groups in public life developing appropriate 
systems where gaps exist 

To build positive community 
relations, making effective, 
supported decisions.  

Align with the Community 
Engagement Action Plan

Community 
Involvement Officer

Ongoing 6

Leadership and Organisational Commitment
5 Political and Executive leadership are 

committed to reducing inequality:
- appointment of a Member Champion; 
- amendment to Article 13 of Constitution to 
reflect a commitment within executive decision 
making.

To ensure a strong vison and 
commitment to equality. 

To ensure Member involvement is at 
the heart of the Equalities agenda

Management Team  
/ Cabinet

May 
2021

7

6 Set and publish equality objectives for the 
council to be reviewed annually 

To meet out duty under the 
Equalities Act

To build positive community 
relations by enabling the council to 
evidence it has made a positive 
difference to the community

Community 
Involvement Officer

Apr 2021 10

7 Ensure a robust Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA) process is undertaken to ensure all 
executive decisions are accompanied by an 
EIA.

To ensure EIAs are integrated into 
planning and decision making. 
To enable the Council to 
demonstrate that equality outcomes 
are being delivered as a result of 
effective equality analysis and 
impact assessments

Management Team 
and Wider 
Management Team 

June 
2021

9

8 To present an annual report to Management 
and Committee for performance monitoring 
and scrutiny purposes 

To review, evidence and challenge 
progress and delivery of equality 
objectives

Community 
Involvement Officer

Apr 2022 11

Responsive Services and Customer Care

P
age 47



6

9 To ensure equality objectives are integrated 
into:
- service business plans; 
- corporate project framework; and
- corporate partnership framework 

The council can demonstrate that 
improvements and equality 
outcomes are being considered and 
delivered across the organisation.

Management Team 
and WMT 

2021/22 13

10 Work with managers to develop and use 
systems to:
-  sort data by equality groups
-  consult service users about service delivery 
to identify who is not accessing services
-  categorise any complaints relating to 
discrimination

To increase satisfaction with 
services amongst all users including 
those with protected characteristics

WMT Initial 
milestone 
of June 
2021.  
Align to 
Action 2

14

Diverse and engaged Council 

11 Collate and analyse workforce data to 
understand the workforce profile, including 
Members and reflectiveness of the local 
community and labour market.  

To enable the Council to have a 
clear understanding of the make-up 
of the workforce and Elected 
Councillors and can demonstrate 
movement to greater diversity 

Management 
Team, Human 
Resources & 
Committee 
Services

Initial 
milestone 
of June 
2021

15 & 
17

12 Ensure strategies and policies are inclusive 
and progressively address identified equality 
issues in areas such as training, recruitment 
and working practices for all staff and 
Members 

To ensure Policies and strategies 
make a proven difference to the 
equality agenda for staff and 
Members

Human Resources Sep 2021 16

13 The council assesses what equality related 
training is required, provides a range of 
accessible learning and development 
opportunities that support Councillors and 
officers in achieving equality objectives and 
outcomes. Link to the IiP action plan

Services are provided by 
knowledgeable and well-trained 
staff.  

Human Resources Sep 2021 18

P
age 48



7

14 To work to build a positive health and 
wellbeing culture throughout the council  

- Inclusive mechanisms in place to 
engage and involve all staff and 
Members

- support for mental health issues in the 
workplace

High satisfaction outcomes levels 
with the working environment across 
all staff groups included those with 
protected characteristics

Human Resources May 
2021

19  

15 Support the Investors in People work plan 
ensuring that equalities is embedded 
throughout the IiP Action Plan.  

High satisfaction levels from all staff 
including those with protected 
characteristics

Human Resources 
and the IiP officer 
working group

Apr 2021

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Equalities Objectives and Action Plan 2021-24

Action
No Action Why are we doing it Lead Officer Deadline Update July 2021

Understanding and Working with our communities

1

Collect and publish relevant, proportionate
and appropriate information in the
Community Data Profile.

Provide information about communities needs to
help identify priorities for the local area Corporate Performance Manager Apr-21

Latest profile was published on GBC
website in April 2021

2

Review the information council systems
capture in relation to users to enable
better understanding of who is / is not
accessing service.  Identify gaps in
service access and understand the
reasons for this; with a specific view on
whether underrepresentation is as a result
of a policy/service condition creating
barriers.

To ensure the council provides services fairly
across all community groups.  Due consideration
needs to be given to GDPR and ensure that only
appropriate information is collected

Town Centre and Cultural Services
Manager to develop with input from WMT Ongoing

Ongoing piece of work. Working with
departments to review systems and
information being held.

3

Effective engagement to ensure the views
of a wide cross-section of people who live
and work in the area are obtained.

To build positive community relations by enabling
and supporting the community to influence local
decisions.  Align with the Community Engagement
Action Plan Community Involvement Officer Ongoing

Community leaders and contacts
have been in regular contact
throughout the pandemic. Network in
development along with a
comprehensive data base.

4

Support participation from under-
represented groups in public life
developing appropriate systems where
gaps exist

To build positive community relations, making
effective, supported decisions.  Align with the
Community Engagement Action Plan Community Involvement Officer Ongoing

Recent consultations including
Census, covid vaccination has
idenified wards where participation
has been lower than in other areas
so possible areas for focus.
Networks and contacts are being
develvoped as part of the community
engagement action plan.

Leadership and Organisational Commitment

5

Political and Executive leadership are
committed to reducing inequality: -
appointment of a Member Champion;  -
amendment to Article 13 of Constitution to
reflect a commitment within executive
decision making.

To ensure a strong vison and commitment to
equality. To ensure Member involvement is at the
heart of the Equalities agenda Management Team  / Cabinet May-21

Member Champion was identified at
Annual Council (Council Leader).
Both Leader and Chief Executive are
both committed.

P
age 51



6
Set and publish equality objectives for the
council to be reviewed annually

To meet out duty under the Equalities Act.  To
build positive community relations by enabling the
council to evidence it has made a positive
difference to the community Community Involvement Officer Apr-21

The new Equalities Objectives are
now published on the council
website.
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home
/about-the-council/policies-strategies-
open-data/transparency-and-open-
data/equality-and-
diversity/equality2/overview

7

Ensure a robust Equality Impact
Assessment (EIA) process is undertaken
to ensure all executive decisions are
accompanied by an EIA.

To ensure EIAs are integrated into planning and
decision making. To enable the Council to
demonstrate that equality outcomes are being
delivered as a result of effective equality analysis
and impact assessments

Management Team and Wider
Management Team Jun-21

Officers are requesting guidance on
completing EIAs. Part of awareness
raising amongst managers.

8

To present an annual report to
Management and Committee for
performance monitoring and scrutiny
purposes

To review, evidence and challenge progress and
delivery of equality objectives Community Involvement Officer Apr-22

Action plan in place and is now
updated on a regular basis.  Current
progress to be reported to MT and
Cttee in Aug/Sep

Responsive Services and Customer Care

9

To ensure equality objectives are
integrated into:  - service business plans;
- corporate project framework; and -
corporate partnership framework

The council can demonstrate that improvements
and equality outcomes are being considered and
delivered across the organisation. Management Team and WMT 2021/22

Coporate partnership framework was
recently updated and included.
Service business planning to
commence shortly.

10

Work with managers to develop and use
systems to:-  sort data by equality groups;
-  consult service users about service
delivery to identify who is not accessing
services; -  categorise any complaints
relating to discrimination;

To increase satisfaction with services amongst all
users including those with protected
characteristics WMT

Ongoing.
Align to
action 2

Discussions needed with managers
and identify an initial pilot  aligned to
action 2.

Diverse and engaged Council 

11

Collate and analyse workforce data to
understand the workforce profile, including
Members and reflectiveness of the local
community and labour market.

To enable the Council to have a clear
understanding of the make-up of the workforce
and Elected Councillors and can demonstrate
movement to greater diversity

Management Team, Human Resources &
Committee Services

Initial
milestone
of June
2021

To be discussed with HR and cttee
services to develop.

12

Ensure strategies and policies are
inclusive and progressively address
identified equality issues in areas such as
training, recruitment and working practices
for all staff and Members

To ensure Policies and strategies make a proven
difference to the equality agenda for staff and
Members Human Resources Sep-21

Update on progress and future work
to be disucssed with HR.

P
age 52



13

The council assesses what equality
related training is required, provides a
range of accessible learning and
development opportunities that support
Councillors and officers in achieving
equality objectives and outcomes. Link to
the IiP action plan

Services are provided by knowledgeable and well-
trained staff. Human Resources Sep-21

Update on progress and future work
to be disucssed with HR.

14

To work to build a positive health and
wellbeing culture throughout the council
-  Inclusive mechanisms in place to
engage and involve all staff and Members;
-   support for mental health issues in the
workplace;

High satisfaction outcomes levels with the working
environment across all staff groups included those
with protected characteristics Human Resources May-21

Increasing and evolving programme
of support in place with a range of
resources available on line under
Care First.  A week long programme
of activities and support were
deliverd as part of Mental Health
Awareness Week.

15

Support the Investors in People work plan
ensuring that equalities is embedded
throughout the IiP Action Plan.

High satisfaction levels from all staff including
those with protected characteristics

Human Resources and the IiP officer
working group Apr-21

IiP action plan currently being
updated ahead of assessment.

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 14 September 2021

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway, Assistant Director (Communities)
Anita Tysoe, Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural 
Services)

Subject: Corporate Register of Partnership – July 2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee of the council’s 
involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee.

Recommendations:
This paper is for information only purposes.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community.  This was further amplified during the council’s, and the community’s, 
response to the COVID pandemic.

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working 
Arrangements which provides a central record of partnerships in which the council 
is involved. The register is available on the council website and is reviewed and 
updated on an annual basis.

1.3 The register provides a general overview of the partnership, along with details of 
the main aims and objectives of the partnership and how the joint-working 
approach contributes and supports the delivery of council objectives.

2. Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Community 
and Leisure Cabinet Committee are as follows:
2.1.1 Council for Voluntary Service North West Kent
2.1.2 CCTV Services Partnership

Page 55 Agenda Item 8



2

2.1.3 GO TRADE
2.1.4 Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP)
2.1.5 Gravesham Gateway
2.1.6 G-Safe Town Centre Crime Reduction (Radionet) Scheme
2.1.7 North West Kent Volunteer Service
2.1.8 Oasis Domestic Abuse Service
2.1.9 Thames Defence Heritage

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships above is shown at appendix 
two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these partnerships 
and the contribution they make to delivering services to the community.

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Report to Full Council – 22 June 2021 - Working in Partnership Framework – 
June 2021

 Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements – July 
2021 published on the council’s website - Corporate partnerships 
(gravesham.gov.uk)

3.2 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements

Page 56

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  
As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working will potentially contribute to all of the strategic 
objectives of the council.  

Page 57

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Climate Change A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Climate Change commitment (if 
applicable).

Crime and Disorder There are a number of partnerships in place, as set out in the appendix, which 
support the council’s overall approach to crime and disorder.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications with this report.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Safeguarding commitment (if 
applicable).

Page 58



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

July 2021

A summary of partnership and shared working 
arrangements 

Community & Leisure 
Portfolio

Appendix TwoPage 59



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve the council’s Corporate objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within the council’s Corporate Plan. 
Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key 
corporate goals would not occur.  This will also include those partnerships that have been established 
to deliver legal or statutory requirements on behalf of the council.”

The council is currently involved in the following partnerships:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership Significant

4 Council for Voluntary Service North West Kent

3 CCTV Services Partnership 

7 GO TRADE

9 Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) 

12 Gravesham Gateway

14 G-Safe Town Centre Crime Reduction (Radionet) Scheme 

17 North West Kent Volunteer Service

18 Oasis Domestic Abuse Service

19 Thames Defence Heritage

Glossary of Terms (Page 21)
Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 60



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Council for Voluntary Service North West Kent

Responsible Officer Anita Tysoe – Service Manager Town Centre and Cultural Services

Lead Member(s) Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox Lead Member for Community and Leisure

Statutory Status No

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The aims of the partnership are to provide support to local community and 
voluntary services.  To include training and skills development, networking 
and sharing of ideas and opportunities and consulting with local 
organisations.  

Expected outcomes Increased resilience and sustainability of the voluntary sector.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #2 Place 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community
Specifically contributing to developing a cohesive and resilient community 
by supporting community organisations.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 Officer time in monitoring and developing the SLA
 Funding of £12,000 for the year 2021-22 through a SLA
 In-kind support in respect of meeting rooms 

Partnership membership Council for Voluntary Service North West Kent and Gravesham Borough 
Council

Governance arrangements  A signed Service Level Agreement 
 Weekly catch up between GBC and NWK nominated officer. Six 

monthly written update and an annual report.  

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Produce annual audited accounts 

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Annually through the Service Level Agreement with an interim update after 
six months. 

Risk Assessment Failure to provide the service would leave local voluntary and community 
sector with no direct specialist and accredited support.  

Safeguarding Obligations In providing support to the local voluntary and community sector this 
agreement will promote safe practices supporting the council’s wider 
Safeguarding commitment.  

Equalities Obligations This partnership positively contributes to the council’s objective of 
understanding our communities and building a cohesive and inclusive 
borough.

Climate Change 
Considerations

This partnership will be encouraged to support GBC’s Climate Change 
ambitions and to include progress in their annual report

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

February 2021 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

March 2022

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 61



Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership CCTV Services Partnership

Responsible Officer Simon Hookway (Assistant Director, Communities)
Kath Donald (Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Cabinet Member for Community and 
Leisure

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership, however, the Partnership was originally 
established exercising powers under the Local Government Act 1972, 
Local Government Act 2000 and Localism Act 2011.  

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The aim of the Partnership is to ensure the delivery of reliable, good 
quality and cost-effective CCTV services across the Local Authority 
partner areas (Gravesham and Medway).  These services will contribute to 
deterring and reducing crime/ASB, assist with evidence-gathering to 
identify offenders and improve feelings of safety for local residents and 
those working in or visiting our Borough to socialise.   

Expected outcomes Continuing improvements to the effectiveness and resilience of the CCTV 
service thereby making a positive contribution to the Council’s objectives 
to reduce crime and disorder.
Well-defined operational and maintenance practices to ensure that the 
service operates efficiently and that any technical issues are capable of 
being resolved swiftly.
A service that is fully compliant with regulations determined by the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).
Benefits linked to economies of scale in the procurement of new 
equipment and engineering expertise to ensure that advances in 
technology are exploited to improve cost-efficiencies. 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
Borough their home.
Objective #2 Place
A dynamic Borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community. 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc.)

Participating Authorities (Medway and Gravesham) pay an annual revenue 
cost taking into account the number of cameras held by each Authority, 
maintenance, fibre costs and staffing (operator) costs.  Gravesham’s 
revenue cost for 2021-22 is £168,921.00.
The CCTV service is provided contracted by Medway Council via its local 
authority commercial arm, Kyndi (formerly known as Medway Commercial 
Group).
Each Authority retains ownership of all CCTV cameras in the field and 
associated technical equipment and mobile camera units purchased 
through the Partnership.  Gravesham currently has 55 public space CCTV 
cameras.
The Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure serves on the 
Partnership Board (meeting six monthly) together with the Assistant 
Director (Communities), who take decisions on behalf of GBC.
Strategic Manager (Community Safety) acts as a substitute on the 
Partnership Board if required and both the Strategic Manager and 
Operations Manager (Community Safety) share the responsibilities of 
attending Operational Group (monthly) meetings, managing the day to day 
expenditure of CCTV budgets, overseeing the process for requesting the 
downloading of footage and the deployment of mobile cameras.

Partnership membership Medway Council; Gravesham Borough Council.

Page 62



Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Governance arrangements A new Partnership Agreement came into effect on 1 April 2021 (in the 
process of being confirmed) accompanied by a Memorandum of 
Agreement and Terms of Reference.  These set out the practical 
governance arrangements for the Partnership including details of the 
membership, arrangements for meetings and decision-making processes.
In order to ensure that ethical standards are maintained the service is 
delivered in accordance with Home Office approved Codes of Practice and 
there is full compliance with ICO regulations.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Financial services for the Partnership including accountancy, internal audit 
and insurance services are provided by Kyndi.  Each financial year, Kyndi 
is required to prepare a business plan and a revenue budget for approval 
by the CCTV Partnership Board.
A draft business plan and budget should be provided to participating 
Councils not later than 1 June in the year prior to it taking effect for 
approval and adoption by the Board.  Indicative budgets for each of the 
two subsequent years should also be provided.
In accordance with the Terms of the Agreement, the Partnership Board 
receives quarterly financial monitoring reports.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

The Partnership business plan sets out the performance management 
arrangements.  Monthly reports are provided by Kyndi to the Community 
Safety Unit which detail the number and types of incidents which CCTV 
cameras have actively monitored and the number of arrests that have 
been secured with which CCTV operators/the service was actively 
engaged.  Monthly technical reports are also received in order that any 
minor camera faults can be highlighted (more serious faults are referred 
immediately) and explanations provided for any disruption to services.
Each year, Kyndi complete a full Status Report on each of the Council’s 
permanent cameras i.e. an audit of condition, functionality and any 
anticipated works/replacements that may be necessary.

Risk Assessment The Partnership undertakes risk assessments to analyse and manage risk 
effectively and maintains a risk register.  Any risks identified form part of 
the business plan and/or are brought to the attention of participating 
Councils by Kyndi.
Potential risks to the future of the Partnership include the willingness of the 
current partners to renew their contractual arrangements in the future and 
when the existing Agreement comes to an end in March 2024.  The 
withdrawal of either Medway or Gravesham would impact the financial 
commitments currently in place and the costs then involved might require 
an alternative solution to be found in continuing to provide a CCTV service 
in a cost effective/affordable manner.

Safeguarding Obligations The presence of CCTV is valuable as a tool to improve feelings of public 
safety generally and provide reassurance.  It also serves both as a 
deterrent to those intent on committing crime/ASB and as a means of 
assisting with the identification of offenders and evidencing their activity to 
support prosecutions/other enforcement action.  CCTV is also utilised to 
help safeguard children and vulnerable people e.g. locally CCTV has been 
used to assist with the locating of missing children and vulnerable adults 
and offers some protection to individuals who are street homeless.
CCTV supports the Council’s wider Safeguarding commitment by 
providing an additional resource (particularly in respect of rapid 
deployment/mobile cameras) that can be used in specific locations where 
activity that presents a safeguarding risk is occurring e.g. in hot spots for 
child criminal/sexual exploitation or county lines are suspected to be 
operating.
ICO regulations/procedures are adhered to at all times to ensure that the 
use of CCTV in meeting safeguarding obligations does not e.g. infringe 
privacy and is always justifiable and proportionate.

Page 63



Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Equalities Obligations The installation of any new CCTV cameras and the deployment of any 
rapid/mobile camera units requires that full consideration is given to 
evidence of need and that the installation are a proportionate response to 
the issue being addressed.  The same criteria apply in each case and the 
opportunity to request CCTV can be submitted by members of the public 
or partner agencies alike.  The presence of CCTV positively promotes 
safety for all and there are no negative impacts on the nine protected 
characteristics.

Climate Change 
Considerations

The work of this Partnership does not have an impact on climate change 
at this time.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Originally 01 October 2012; 
renewed Partnership 
Agreement 01 April 2021.

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

Current Agreement 
terminates 31 March 2024.

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 64



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership GO TRADE

Responsible Officer Simon Hookway, Assistant Director (Communities)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure 

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

GO TRADE is a market development project funded by the European 
Union Interreg Funding within the France/England Channel area. It aims to 
help market traders build sustainable businesses and increase visitors to 
towns with traditional markets, especially within the context of a more 
challenging retail environment.
Partners will work together to share experience and ideas and to establish 
programmes of markets and business support to reinvigorate traditional 
markets.  This will be undertaken under a strong GO TRADE brand, which 
in turn will help participating traders to trade in any partner market.
Each partner to deliver the GO TRADE project as stated in the application 
form and partnership agreement.

Expected outcomes Annual programmes of event/specialist markets.
Creation of business processes and support including training modules, 
videos and digital content for existing/ new market traders 
Development of the tourism product – including research and values, 
themed markets and events as well as digital tools including social media 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #2 – Place
A dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Staff time in managing the project and participating in business support, 
tourism development, communication and research aspects of the project 
are being used as match funding to draw down European funds. The Joint 
Secretariat informed partners that they will now get 100% funding on their  
5th, 6th and 7th claims. An auditor is involved as a first level controller to 
check and confirm funding claims.

Partnership membership Basildon Council (Lead Partner), Gravesham Borough Council, Great 
Yarmouth Borough Council, Great Yarmouth Town Centre Partnership,  
Ville de Louvigné du Désert, Communauté de Communes du Pays de 
Lumbres, Chambre d’agriculture du Nord Pas de Calais, Ville de Caen, 
Office de Tourisme de Caen, Ville d-Amiens, Pas de Calais Tourisme.

Governance arrangements A formal GO TRADE partnership agreement has been signed by all 
partners.  This sets out the governance arrangements for the project.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Financial reporting deadlines are set by the European Union on a six 
monthly basis.
Internal monthly budget monitoring will be set up and the council submits 6 
monthly budget monitoring reports to the GO TRADE lead partners as part 
of the claim process.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Six monthly performance monitoring is part of the financial claim process.  
The Lead Partner Basildon BC will report performance to individual 
partners. A set European Union/Interreg review process will be adhered to.

Page 65



Gravesham Borough Council        - 8 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Risk Assessment Points raised by the council’s legal team have been satisfied in the setting 
and signing of the partnership agreement.
Overall, risks will be managed through internal monitoring and Lead 
Partner monitoring of the project.
The Covid-19 Pandemic has had a major impact on the delivery of 
GoTrade activity.  Uncertainties remain, but this partnership funding will 
help in respect of recovery work in support of the Market and local 
businesses.

Safeguarding Obligations N/A 

Equalities Obligations Activity undertaken and supported by the Go Trade partnership adheres to 
the council’s overall Equalities aims and objectives as set out in the 
Equality Policy (February 2021).  No negative impacts are identified in 
respect of the nine protected characteristics.

Climate Change 
Considerations

With Covid-19 partners were not able to meet up face to face, hence 
reducing the amount of travel and CO2 emissions, organising virtual 
meetings instead. Agendas, minutes and presentations were all accessible 
online and therefore avoiding the need of printing.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Funding submission 
approved July 2017. 
Partnership agreements 
signed September 2017.

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

Project extended and due 
to end March 2022

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 66



Gravesham Borough Council        - 9 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP)

Responsible Officer Kath Donald (Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Cabinet Member for Community and 
Leisure

Statutory Status Statutory Partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To create a safer, cleaner Borough in which to live, work and socialise;
To strengthen local communities and protect vulnerable people from harm.

Expected outcomes Reductions in recorded crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB).

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
Borough their home.
Objective #2 Place
A dynamic Borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community. 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc.)

External funding to support community safety activity is held by the Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC).  This is provided to Community 
Safety Units (CSUs) as a Crime Reduction Grant subject the submission 
of a satisfactory application/business case each year detailing how the 
funding is intended to be spent and how it relates to the priorities of both 
the local CSP and to priorities contained within the Commissioner’s 
Policing and Crime Plan. The total Grant allocation available to 
Gravesham in 2021-22 is £35,043 (unchanged from the previous year).  
Considerable officer time is spent in supporting the work of the CSP.  All 
Agenda planning/distribution of documents and administration tasks 
associated with CSP meetings are fulfilled by the Council’s CSU.  Almost 
all CSU and other Council officers (including senior management from the 
Communities Department) attend the CSP meetings. CSU officers share 
between them lead responsibility in respect of a number of operational 
sub-groups of the CSP (Area Based Action Group, Modern Slavery 
Working Group, Youth Engagement Panel, ASB Strategy Delivery Group, 
Gravesham Vulnerability Panel and Gravesham Serious Organised Crime 
Panel). The CSP is chaired by the Elected Member and Portfolio holder for 
Community Safety, currently Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox (Cabinet 
Member for Community and Leisure).
The Council’s CSU’s Strategic Manager undertakes the completion of a 
Strategic Assessment (audit of crime and disorder) each year (the 
completion of an Assessment being a statutory obligation for the CSP and 
prepares and completes a Community Safety Public Consultation process 
annually on behalf of the Partnership.  Officer time is also spent in 
preparing regular performance monitoring reports and in reviewing (and 
revising if necessary) the Community Safety Strategy which underpins 
Partnership activity.  A new three-year Strategy has been produced in 
2021 following the withdrawal of Gravesham from the joint Dartford and 
Gravesham CSP and the creation of a dedicated CSP for the Borough 
which came into effect in October 2020.
There are shared Partnership resources through the co-location od 
Council officers and Kent Police representatives who work alongside 
Council staff on a daily basis from the Civic Centre.  Kent Police contribute 
to the cost of Council office space, furniture and utilities used by Police 
officers.   

Page 67



Gravesham Borough Council        - 10 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Partnership membership Statutory partners: Gravesham Borough Council; Kent County Council; 
Kent Police; Kent Fire and Rescue Service; Kent Surrey and Sussex 
Community Rehabilitation Service/Kent Probation; Kent and Medway NHS 
and the Office of the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner.

Governance arrangements The Partnership has Terms of Reference and governance arrangements 
that were formally agreed by all statutory partners in January 2021.  
Specifically, these set out:

 Purpose of the Partnership;
 Key areas of responsibility;
 Statutory duties;
 Membership;
 Chairmanship;
 Decision-making (including voting rights);
 Agenda-setting and administration;
 Role of the Executive Group;
 Accountability.

The CSP Executive Group is comprised of the Director (Communities), the 
Chair of the CSP (Elected Member/Portfolio holder for Community Safety) 
and Council officers as appropriate.  Other statutory partners may be 
invited/are welcome to attend the Executive Group meetings, which take 
place in advance of each CSP meeting to agree the Agenda, if a specific 
issue has arisen in respect of which the participation of a further statutory 
partner is deemed to be beneficial.
In terms of pubic accountability, the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy 
(including outcomes of Public Consultation exercises) are made available 
on the Council’s website.  The work of the CSP is also reviewed several 
times each year by the Council’s Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

A budget report is provided to the CSP each year detailing how external 
funding (Crime Reduction Grant) has been used in the previous year 
together with brief details of outcomes and how the funds available in the 
current year will be applied.  The Council’s CSU provides the Office of the 
PCC with both a mid-year report and year-end report on progress made in 
the delivery of initiatives funded via the Crime Reduction Grant and impact 
of activity in reducing crime and ASB.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance monitoring reports are provided to the CSP quarterly 
meetings that contain detailed information on crime trends and changes in 
recorded ASB incidents.  Verbal and/or written progress reports are also 
provided by the Chairs of each of the Partnership’s operational sub-groups 
in respect of activity within their specific area of responsibility.
The Strategic Assessment process, completed towards the end of each 
calendar year, provides an opportunity to review activities carried out and 
their impact. As part of this process, consideration is also given to any 
new/emerging priorities and any anticipated changes in legislation or 
statutory duties and amendments made to the Community Safety Strategy 
if necessary to reflect these.
The annual public consultation exercise also ensures that those 
community safety issues that are being identified by local people as most 
important to them are being addressed.  If a new issue comes to light, the 
Partnership then has the opportunity to review existing priorities and 
incorporate the newly identified issue into work programmes if appropriate.

Page 68



Gravesham Borough Council        - 11 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.
continued

The Council’s Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee meets several 
times a year to review Partnership activity (in compliance with the 
provisions of the Police and Justice Act 2006) and ensure that statutory 
responsibilities are being met.  This Committee generally selects a specific 
area of Partnership activity e.g. ASB, Modern Slavery etc. for scrutiny at 
each of its meetings and representatives of relevant statutory partner 
agencies are invited to attend.

Risk Assessment Funding to support Community Safety activity and the work of the 
Partnership is quite limited and we are largely reliant on bidding for 
external funding when opportunities arise. The PCC’s Crime Reduction 
Grant has remained the same for 2021-22 (£35,043) as for 2020-21 
although there is no guarantee that this will remain unchanged in future 
years.  New arrangements and a move away from a District allocation is a 
potential risk to the ability of local CSUs to continue to deliver the range of 
projects/initiatives that have been fundamental in addressing the strategic 
community safety priorities at an operational level thus far. 

Safeguarding Obligations The work of the CSP makes a significant contribution to improving 
community safety across the Borough but also has a number of strands of 
work that directly contribute to the Safeguarding agenda and protecting 
vulnerable people from harm.  The Gravesham Vulnerability Panel (GVP) 
is a multi-agency operational sub-group of the CSP which accepts 
referrals from partner agencies of vulnerable adults with complex needs 
and that develops tailored action plans for those individuals in order that 
they can be encouraged to engage with services and receive the support 
they need.  A Modern Slavery Working Group has also been established 
more recently to help raise awareness of the signs of abuse/exploitation 
and encourage reporting in order that exploited individuals can be properly 
assisted and reduce the risk of further harm.

Equalities Obligations The work of the CSP contributes to the Council’s overall Equalities aims 
and objectives as initiatives to reduce crime and disorder benefit the local 
population as a whole.  The Partnership also delivers a range of initiatives 
that aim to encourage access to services by groups that are under-
represented and by tackling specific crime types to which certain 
individuals and communities may be more vulnerable e.g. hate crime.

Climate Change 
Considerations

The work of this Partnership does not have an impact on climate change 
at this time.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

October 2020 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 69



Gravesham Borough Council        - 12 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Gravesham Gateway

Responsible Officer Simon Walsh, Service Manager (Communities)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure 

Statutory Status Non-statutory

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Gateway is a partnership between Kent County Council and Gravesham 
Borough Council, set up to provide a wide range of public and voluntary 
services in one convenient location. 
Gateway is about creating better access for customers to a range of public 
services. In providing access at a single location, it is intended to: 
 improve the customer’s experience of seeking assistance by creating 

a friendly and approachable service providing joined up and effective 
delivery;

 improve service delivery by increased customer focus and sharing of 
information; and

 Increase efficiency by working collaboratively. 

Expected outcomes Joining up of information to the benefit of customers; information sharing.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #3 Progress
An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and 
strong governance environment.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 Management and Officer time to drive the direction of the Gateway 
and deliver customer service requirement. 

 The Gateway is located in the Civic Centre reception and there is use 
of facilities in the Civic Centre for Gateway staff.

Partnership membership Kent County Council and Gravesham Borough Council

Governance arrangements Current reporting mechanism covering financial planning, operational 
issues and general performance is in place between Service Manager 
(Customer and Theatre Services) and Director (Communities) (GBC), and 
Gateway Operations Manager. 
Decisions relating to the budget or fundamental changes are reported to 
Members.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Annual budget review and business planning.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Reports to GBC Management Team and Lead Member.

Risk Assessment KCC and GBC have signed agreements to deliver the joint Gravesham 
Gateway for a period of 15 years. KCC contribute 50% towards the costs 
of management, staffing and premises space. Generated income is also 
shared on a 50/50 basis.
The risk would be if the partnership arrangement were dissolved by either 
party then a share of the initial set-up and building costs would be 
awarded to the other party.

Page 70



Gravesham Borough Council        - 13 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Safeguarding Obligations Gravesham Gateway consists of a number of service providers who 
deliver support and advice to vulnerable adults / children. These include, 
for example, Kent Police, Citizens Advice North & West Kent, Victim 
Support and Carers First, domestic abuse support, supported employment 
and housing advice.
Whilst the specific delivery partners working within the Gateway change 
from time to time, the general range of support has continued to be offered 
or can be signposted.
The formal Gravesham Gateway partnership does not have its own Policy, 
however, both partners (Gravesham Borough Council and Kent County 
Council) do. Officers would follow their respective policy.
In the event of an incident within the Gravesham Gateway, Gravesham 
Borough Council’s procedures are followed

Equalities Obligations Gateways are specifically developed to meet equality requirements and, in 
particular, accessibility of services for all customers. The concept of 
providing face to face services alongside digital, of enabling interpreting 
and translation services across all partners is part of the core offer

Climate Change 
Considerations

Delivering a range of services from one central point supports the climate 
change agenda by reducing multiple travel points for customers and 
reducing building and utility requirements for agencies. There are 
economies of scale with regards to use of power and facilities which are 
delivered on a shared basis which directly attribute to reducing carbon 
omissions (for example, heating one premises, as opposed to multiple) 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

April 2010 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

2025 if runs to full term of 
15 years

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 71



Gravesham Borough Council        - 14 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership G-Safe Town Centre Crime Reduction (Radionet) Scheme

Responsible Officer Kath Donald (Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit)
Sean Steer (Operations Manager, Community Safety Unit)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Cabinet Member for Community and 
Leisure

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

G-Safe aims to:
 Reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour including alcohol-

related crime and disorder;
 Improve the detection of crime with a view to apprehending and 

prosecuting offenders;
 Reduce fear of crime and the effects of the fear of crime;
 Create a safe and secure environment for customers, staff and 

visitors;
 Strengthen joint working between the business community, Police, 

Local Authority and other agencies and organisations both locally and 
in partnership with neighbouring Districts and Boroughs.

Expected outcomes Reductions in crime, anti-social behaviour and substance misuse;
Increased confidence within the business and retail community in 
Gravesham as a good place in which to invest; 
Improved public perceptions about personal safety and the promotion of 
Gravesham as a safe place to socialise;
Improved sharing of intelligence between the G-Safe Scheme, the 
Council’s Community Safety Unit (CSU)/other Departments as necessary 
and Kent Police.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
Borough their home.
Objective #2 Place
A dynamic Borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community. 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc.)

The day-to-day management, delivery and financial control of the G-Safe 
Scheme has operated independently of the Council since June 2011, (as 
is the case with other Town Centre Crime Reduction initiatives across the 
County and as recommended by Kent Police).  The G-Safe Co-ordinator is 
employed and managed directly by the G-Safe Board.  The Council 
provides the G-Safe Co-ordinator with an hot desk at the Civic Centre and 
allows Council meeting rooms to be used (subject to availability) for G-
Safe meetings.
CSU officers attend and provide advice as appropriate to G-Safe Board 
meetings.  This ensures that good links are maintained between G-Safe 
members, the CSU and the CCTV service operating from Medway.  The 
CSU works closely with the G-Safe Co-ordinator who attends CSU Daily 
Briefing meetings to enable the sharing of information and intelligence 
particularly with Kent Police.
Quarterly G-Safe Board meetings are attended by the CSU Strategic 
Manager or Operations Manager.  Bi-monthly Members’ Meetings are also 
often attended as these are particularly helpful for information-sharing 
regarding prolific offenders.

Page 72



Gravesham Borough Council        - 15 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council, Kent Police, local retailers, businesses and 
licensed premises, KCC Community Warden Service, Street Pastors, 
Kyndi (CCTV Service).

Governance arrangements The Scheme is governed by a Constitution and Code of Practice as 
agreed by the G-Safe Board to accurately reflect the current 
arrangements.  The Scheme’s operating practices are audited by the 
Association of Business Crime Partnerships (ABCP) and it has been 
recognised as having excellent procedures in place.  Audits by ABCP take 
place every two years and the last audit deemed the Scheme worthy of a 
Distinction for its governance arrangements.
The Strategic Manager or Operations Manager, CSU, attends the quarterly 
G-Safe Board meetings because of the benefits of our joint working but the 
Council does not have any voting rights.  Whilst Council officers attend 
these meetings they do not have any responsibility for their administration 
or governance – these functions are carried out independently by the G-
Safe Co-ordinator.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Financial management of the Scheme rests in its entirety with the G-Safe 
Board as the Scheme operates completely independently of the Council. 
We are not required to support the Scheme financially and the G-Safe 
Board conducts its own financial monitoring.  The Scheme has from time 
to time bid for CSU funding and is then subject to the same criteria and 
application process that applies to all other organisations approaching the 
CSU for financial support.  

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance monitoring of the Scheme is managed by the G-Safe 
Coordinator, with regular reports being provided to its’ quarterly Board 
meetings.  A formal review of the Partnership’s arrangements is completed 
as part of the Scheme’s Annual General meeting, including consideration 
of its’ membership.

Risk Assessment The G-Safe Scheme is a self-financing initiative with its running costs 
being met through Radionet membership fees and any additional new 
work relies on the successful external applications/bids for funding.  The 
impact of Covid-19 which has led to the closure of a number of businesses 
in Gravesend town centre will mean the loss of some revenue.  Further 
closures resulting in reduction in members will need to be balanced by 
new members joining the Scheme and longer-term, further reductions in 
members could affect the financial viability of the Scheme. 

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership contributes to the protection of children and vulnerable 
people living in or visiting Gravesend town centre.  In particular, 
registration of vulnerable people onto the Shop Safe Scheme e.g. people 
with dementia/mental health issues who may become confused or 
disorientated when out and about, allows them to be assisted by any G-
Safe member premises who can access their details and contact a family 
member/carer. 
The Scheme has also been instrumental in locating children/young people 
and adults who are reported missing.
The G-Safe Scheme follows clear procedures when safeguarding issues 
arise and the advice of the CSU (Council and Police staff) is sought as 
necessary.

Equalities Obligations The Scheme/Partnership contributes to improving community safety for all 
local residents and those working or visiting the area and does not 
negatively impact any protected equalities characteristics.  In fact, it serves 
to positively support activity to reduce the risks of harm to any individuals 
who may be/may feel more vulnerable to victimisation because of 
protected characteristics.

Climate Change 
Considerations

The work of this Partnership does not have an impact on climate change.

Page 73



Gravesham Borough Council        - 16 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

As an independent entity, 
created June 2011.

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 74



Gravesham Borough Council        - 17 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership North West Kent Volunteer Service

Responsible Officer Anita Tysoe – Service Manager Town Centre and Cultural Services

Lead Member(s) Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox Lead Member for Community and Leisure

Statutory Status No

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The aims of this partnership are to deliver a volunteer service across 
Gravesham including a befriending service.  .

Expected outcomes A robust cohort of trained and supported volunteers. 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #2 Place 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community
Specifically contribution to developing a cohesive and resilient community 
by developing volunteering across the borough.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 Officer time in monitoring and developing the SLA
 Funding of £8,000 for the year 2021-22 through a SLA
 In-kind support in respect of meeting rooms and general advice

Partnership membership Charity 

Governance arrangements  A signed Service Level Agreement 
 Six monthly written update and an annual report.  

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Produce annual audited accounts 

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Annually through the Service Level Agreement with an interim update after 
six months. 

Risk Assessment Failure to support a borough wide volunteering service could lead to a lack 
of capacity and co-ordination to respond to emerging needs and crisis

Safeguarding Obligations In providing support and developing skilled volunteers this agreement will 
promote safe practices supporting the council’s wider Safeguarding 
commitment.  

Equalities Obligations This partnership positively contributes to the council’s objective of 
understanding our communities and building a cohesive and inclusive 
borough

Climate Change 
Considerations

This partnership will be encouraged to support GBC’s Climate Change 
ambitions and to include progress in their annual report 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

March 2021 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

March 2022

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 75



Gravesham Borough Council        - 18 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Oasis Domestic Abuse Services

Responsible Officer Anita Tysoe – Service Manager Town Centre and Cultural Services

Lead Member(s) Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox Lead Member for Community and Leisure

Statutory Status No

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The aims of this partnership are to provide specialist domestic abuse 
support accessible to all those who need it.  This support includes to those 
escaping abuse and also to educate, prevent and raise awareness.

Expected outcomes Support provided to those in need and increased awareness of the service 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #2 Place 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community
Specifically contribution to developing a cohesive and resilient community 
by providing support to those in need.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 Officer time in monitoring and developing the SLA
 Funding of £8,000 for the year 2021-22 through a SLA
 In-kind support in respect of meeting rooms and general advice

Partnership membership A charity

Governance arrangements  A signed Service Level Agreement 
 Six monthly written update and an annual report.  

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Produce annual audited accounts 

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Annually through the Service Level Agreement with an interim update after 
six months. 

Risk Assessment Failure to provide a domestic abuse service would place a significant 
number of residents in a vulnerable and potentially dangerous position.

Safeguarding Obligations This agreement will promote safe practices supporting the council’s wider 
Safeguarding commitment.  

Equalities Obligations This partnership positively contributes to the council’s objective of 
understanding our communities and building a cohesive and inclusive 
borough.

Climate Change 
Considerations

This partnership will be encouraged to support GBC’s Climate Change 
ambitions and to include progress in their annual report

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

March 2021 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

March 2022

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 76



Gravesham Borough Council        - 19 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Thames Defence Heritage

Responsible Officer Lyndsey Thompson, Arts and Heritage Officer

Lead Member(s) Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox Lead Member for Community and Leisure

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The promotion, development and maintenance of a fortifications and 
historical defence sites within the borough.  

Expected outcomes Within these objectives the partnership aims to restore and make 
accessible to public viewing:
 New Tavern Fort;
 The Civil Defence Control Centre at Woodlands Park; and
 Chantry Heritage Centre.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #2 – Place
A dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 A fee of £4,200 per annum is paid to TDH to operate the Chantry 
Heritage Centre on behalf of GBC.

 GBC offers free use of the Civil Defence Control Centre and New 
Tavern Fort to TDH who charge a nominal fee for visitors to enter.

 CHC is curated and managed by GBC but staffed by TDH.
 Maintenance and repair costs for all facilities are the responsibility of 

GBC including service charges. TDH are responsible for Portable 
Appliance Testing on their own property within the facilities.

 Exhibits within the facilities are mainly in the ownership of TDH except 
for the CHC. Each facility has a number of items fixed to the asset and 
therefore in the ownership of GBC

Partnership membership Thames Defence Heritage and Gravesham Borough Council

Governance arrangements The governance arrangements for the partnership with Thames Defence 
Heritage (TDH) are set out in the 2021-22 Operational Agreement. The 
purpose of this operational agreement is to define the relationship between 
Gravesham Borough Council and TDH and to set out the terms of the 
working partnership between the two parties.
In addition, a licence for access is in place for TDH to occupy New Tavern 
Fort and Civil Defence Control Centre. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The operational agreements are reviewed on an annual basis.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Monthly attendance figures are submitted by TDH.
Regular meetings arranged.

Risk Assessment The potential reduction in financial resources would severely undermine 
the corporate objectives.

Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Page 77



Gravesham Borough Council        - 20 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Equalities Obligations TDH are aware of the Council’s Equalities Policy and support the aims and 
objectives through their operation as a voluntary community group, by 
providing members of the community with the opportunity to lead an active 
role within the heritage provision.

Climate Change 
Considerations

The objective of TDH is to preserve our built and cultural heritage and 
therefore supporting climate change is a priority.
As a volunteer organisation partnered with the council, TDH are aware of 
our commitment to climate change and support our aim to become carbon 
neutral by 2030. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Early 1970’s Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 78



Gravesham Borough Council        - 21 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Annual Report A comprehensive report on an organisations activities over the past year, intended 
to give shareholders and other interested people information about the 
organisation’s activities and financial performance.

ASB Anti-social Behaviour

Association of 
Business Crime 
Partnership (ABCP)

The National Association of Business Crime Partnerships [NABCP] is the umbrella 
body representing business crime partnerships at a national level. It seeks to 
promote the concept of BCRPs to local and national government and to increase the 
collective effectiveness of the hundreds of schemes across the country by lobbying 
for greater resources and influence.

Business Plan A business plan is a formal statement of a set of business goals, the reasons they 
are believed attainable, and the plan for reaching those goals.

CCTV Closed-circuit television (CCTV) is the use of video cameras to transmit a signal to a 
specific place, on a limited set of monitors; it is not openly transmitted

Code of Practice Written guidelines issued by the partnership to its members to help them comply 
with the standards expected of the partnership.

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives.

Crime Reduction 
Grant

A grant provided by the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner to local councils' 
Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) and other groups.

CSU Community Safety Unit – officers employed by Gravesham Borough Council to 
provide a community safety service.

Home Office The Homes Office is the lead government department for immigration, passports, 
counter-terrorism, policing, drugs and crime.

ICO Information Commissioner’s Office

Interreg Interreg is one of the key instruments of the European Union (EU) supporting 
cooperation across borders through project funding (https://interreg.eu/about-
interreg/) 

Kyndi The commercial trading arm of Medway Council, formerly the Medway Commercial 
Group.

Local Government 
Act 1972

An Act of Parliament in the United Kingdom that makes provision with respect to 
local government and the functions of local authorities in England and Wales.

Local Government 
Act 2000

An Act to make provision with respect to the functions and procedures of local 
authorities and provision with respect to local authority elections; to make provision 
with respect to grants and housing benefit in respect of certain welfare services; to 
amend section 29 of the Children Act 1989; and for connected purposes.

Page 79

https://interreg.eu/about-interreg/
https://interreg.eu/about-interreg/
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament


Gravesham Borough Council        - 22 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Term Used Meaning

Localism Act 2011 An Act to make provision about the functions and procedures of local and certain 
other authorities; to enable the recovery of financial sanctions imposed by the Court 
of Justice of the European Union on the United Kingdom from local and public 
authorities; to make provision about local government finance; to make provision 
about town and country planning, the Community Infrastructure Levy and the 
authorisation of nationally significant infrastructure projects; to make provision about 
social and other housing; and for other connected purposes.

Partnership 
Agreement

An agreement between the relevant partners setting out how the partnership will 
operate and the commitment each will make to the partnership.

Police and Crime 
Commissioner

Police and crime commissioner will be elected to ensure the policing needs of their 
communities are met as effectively as possible, bringing communities closer to the 
police, building confidence in the system and restoring trust

Police and Justice 
Act 2006

An act extending police powers and granting the Home Office greater control over 
operational policing.

Radionet A system of radio stations operating with each other in order to ensure fast 
communication across a wide ranging area

Service Level 
Agreement (SLA)

A document which is agreed between the partners and records a common 
understanding about services, priorities and responsibilities and clearly defines the 
"level of service" expected through targets etc.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within 
the council’s Corporate Plan. Without this effective partnership therefore, the 
delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.  This 
will also include those partnerships that have been established to deliver legal or 
statutory requirements on behalf of the council.

Strategic 
Assessment

Under the Police and Justice Act (2006), Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships (CDRP) are required to produce an annual strategic assessment which 
identifies the priorities they will tackle over the next 3 years.

Terms of Reference A document which describes the purpose and structure of a partnership along with 
basis for making future decisions and for confirming or developing a common 
understanding of the scope among stakeholders.

Page 80

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Community_Infrastructure_Levy


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Committee

Date: 14 September 2021

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2021-22

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Community & Leisure Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter One 2021-22 (April to June 2021).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 81 Agenda Item 9



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Community & Leisure 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter One 2021-22, covering the period April to June 2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 82



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 83

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 84



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C O M M U N I T Y  &  L E I S U R E
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  1  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 85



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245

2020-21 2,670 3,056 2,806 2,471

2021-22 2,888

2022-23

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 636 774 556 685

2020-21 1,295 1,098 874 982

2021-22 811

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and 

reduction of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.

• Successful application completed for funding via the Kent PCC’s Office for the purchase of 4 

rapid deployment cameras and to install wireless equipment to help tackle ASB/crime;

• Work commissioned for upgrading of permanent cameras at Valley Drive and the Lion 

Roundabout;

• Funding secured from the Kent Violence Reduction Unit to run an Intelligence-led Youth 

Outreach Programme in conjunction with The Grand in locations identified by the VRU, Police and 

CSU, visiting at key times and engaging with young people up to 25 years who are at risk of being 

drawn into ASB/crime, aiming divert them into a activities provided by The Grand/appropriate 

support services;

• Multi-agency activity through the Area Based Action Group, led by the Community Safety Project 

Coordinator and the Specialist Housing Officer (both new posts introduced this Quarter) is 

focussing is on reducing crime and ASB in key locations (primarily Riverside Ward and 

Gravesend Town Centre) Community engagement events are planned for Quarter 2 that will be 

supported by partner agencies and local Councillors;

• The Council’s annual Modern Slavery Statement has been completed and published on the 

Council's website;

• All Community Safety web pages revised to make it easier for local people to get advice on what 

to do if they experience or witness ASB/crime including a new section on Topical 

Issues/Commonly Asked Questions  e.g. e-scooters as a current issue, seasonal crime prevention 

advice;

• CSU and partners have been working together in preparing a bid to the Home Office Safer 

Streets Fund Round 3 which, if successful, will see target-hardening measures, training and 

awareness-raising initiatives to reduce Violence Against Women and Girls to be delivered later 

this year;

• Safeguarding Training has been rolled out to all Council staff.

Crime levels have remained lower than usual but higher than in Quarter 1 2020.  Kent Police 

recorded ASB has been following a downward trend after the increases seen during the pandemic 

(Covid-19 breaches recorded within ASB figures) - the number of incidents recorded in June was 

233 incidents – the lowest monthly figure since February 2020.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.
#1 PEOPLE 

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 86



P I  13

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 17 16 28 19

2020-21 0 7 44 79

2021-22 100

2022-23

 2. Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone 

committing environmental crime or damaging the local environment. 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Total Number of Enforcement Actions taken April/May/June 2021. (Prosecution/ Fixed Penalties 

and Community Protection Notices and Warnings)                                                                                                                                                                                                            

Prosecutions 1  /   FPNs Fly tipping  17 / FPNs Littering 4 / 78 Community Protection Warnings.                                                   

Total 100                                                                                                                                                              

Despite on-going Covid restrictions the Environmental Enforcement Team have continued to 

respond to fly tipping reports from members of the public and local stake holders. As a direct 

result, evidence has been gained leading to the instigation of investigations and the issuing of 

Fixed Penalty Notices or Community Protection Notices/Warnings. Working with Legal Services 

the team have had its first successful prosecution. This was for obstructing officers in an 

investigation into fly tipping. The offender was convicted under S.110 of the Environment Act and 

fined £1,000, ordered to pay £479 in costs and pay a victim surcharge of £100.  The offender was 

named and shamed in the local press and on social media.                                                                                                                                             

In addition to reactive work the team has begun to work with partner agencies to carry out 

proactive operations, targeting illegal waste carriers. This has led to a number of future 

prosecutions and the seizure of waste carriers vehicles for road traffic offences by Kent Police.                                                           

Other proactive work undertaken includes the introduction and testing of covert surveillance 

cameras for future deployment in fly tipping hot spot areas. It is hoped that these cameras will be 

tested and procedures in place for the beginning of Q2.                                                                                                                                                                                                         

Officers continue to liaise with the community and engage with residents from difficult to reach 

and problematic areas. This is showing some benefit with a lower level of small scale offences 

occuring in targeted areas.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

0

40

80

120

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22 P
age 87



P I  37

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620

2020-21 N/A 41,278 39,391 2,901

2021-22 74,247

2022-23

P I  38

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 7,318

2020-21 551

2021-22

2022-23

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.1. Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports 

programmes to tackle local health inequalities.

Total number of leisure centre attendees

Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Leisure Centres -

April - June 2021 attendances at Cascades and Cygnet continue to be significantly below those of 

2019 (pre-pandemic), but with the national restrictions being lifted further it is anticipated that 

attendances will continue to rise slowly over the coming months. The leisure centres were allowed 

to re-open on 12th April but with significant national restrictions still in place at that time. However, 

the swimming pool, health suite and cafe at Cascades remained closed. As from 19th May, some 

further national restrictions were lifted, which allowed indoor group classes to recommence. The 

Swimming Pool and Health Suite at Cascades is now planned to re-open on 24th July. In 

summary; when comparing the above figures with attendances from 2019 (pre-pandemic), the 

following can be noted:

• Cascades Gym is at 50% compared to 2019 – Cygnet Gym is at 45%

• Cascades Group Classes is at 41% compared to 2019 – Cygnet Group Classes is at 20%

• Cygnet Swimming Pool is at 53% compared to 2019 – Cascades Swimming has been closed

• Cascades Total Attendance is at 19% compared to 2019 – Cygnet Total Attendance is at 49%

Active Gravesham -

Football - The Grass roots football season was extended to the last week of June due to the loss 

of play as a result of Covid-19. Between April and June there were over 100 games played in total 

at Cascades, Kings Farm, Springhead and Culverstone. This was a mix of mens, ladies and girls 

and boys junior teams.

Walking netball - Started again at Cygnet Leisure Centre in late May. An average of 14 ladies per 

week take part in the session which has been adapted to maintain social distancing.

Parkrun - Gravesend junior parkrun started again in May 2021. The 2km run for ages 4 to 14 

averages 33 runners per week. The senior runs at Shorne Woods and Cyclopark are due to 

restart in late July.

Cricket - Cricket started at Wombwell Park in May 2021. The third and fourth teams from 

Gravesend Cricket Club are hiring the ground so an average of 24 players are using the site per 

week.

0

2,500

5,000

7,500

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22 P
age 88



P I  40

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 974 595 1,011 515

2020-21 353 417 414 386

2021-22 384

2022-23

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living services

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help 

support and safeguard vulnerable residents. 

Estuary Festival

As part of Estuary Festival this year, a group of young people from our Gifted Young Generation 

(GYG) programme created three short films and interviews about the artists displaying work in 

Gravesham. With the support of creative professionals, the group of young people learnt 

production, interviewing and editing skills to reveal their views and thoughts on art, culture and 

creativity:

https://thegrand.org.uk/what-we-do/gyg-talks-art-for-estuary-2021 

New Parent Support Group

We are starting a new monthly support group for parents to empower parents through education 

and support from professionals. There will be open discussions and a safe space for parents to 

identify and share any experiences they have, in monthly meet-ups which will be face to face as 

well as online sessions.

National Walking Month and Mental Health Awareness Week 

To celebrate National Walking Month and Mental Health Awareness Week staff members at the 

Gr@nd and members of the public completed a 9-mile sponsored walk to raise money for our 

FREE youth counselling service, Active Listening. 14 people took part, £290 was raised: 

https://www.facebook.com/plugins/post.php?href=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2Fgran

d.gravesend%2Fposts%2F3877642652289533&show_text=true&width=500

#2 PLACE 

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 89



P I  41

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 36

2020-21 50

2021-22

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of 

engagement initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in 

civic life.

Lockdown restrictions have slowly eased during this quarter which has allowed for some 

gatherings.  The pandemic has seen a large increase in the number of individual volunteer litter 

pickers.  With changes around gatherings outdoors a number of group litter picks have been 

organised with a total of 16 group litter picks and the Great British Spring Clean take place 

between 28 May and 13 June.  

Community flag raising has taken place on community square with the International Roma Day, 

Easter, Vaisakhi, Eid,  Pride Month, and Armed Forces Day all being celebrated.  

Windrush funding from MHCLG enabled the delivery of a community programme of participative 

activities and events with storytelling with local primary schools, a recreation of HMS Windrush 

using shadows of local people on LV21 and food, music at Gravesend Borough Market. 

The community events fund has provided support for 4 local events that will be delivered during 

the next quarter. 

Support to local community organisations has continued with the promotion and distribution of 

support packages on offer and work with partners to support the local uptake of Covid 

vaccinations.   

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 

with its partners

Annual indicator

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0

20

40

60

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 90



P I  42

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968

2020-21 0 2,413 3,415 241

2021-22 107

2022-23

P I  43

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461

2020-21 980 6,192 4,582 2,223

2021-22 4,681

2022-23

4. Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the 

Borough Market as community assets.

The Woodville

The Woodville has been a vaccine centre since February 2021. However, the Woodville team has 

continued to deliver a variety of events in alternative ways, whilst the venue has been ‘closed’.

Two successful comedy nights were held in Fort Gardens and sold out on both occasions.

The Gravesham Fringe Festival  ran from 4 to 12 June and delivered 2 music events and 1 

comedy night in Fort Gardens, again all selling out, and over 30 events were held during the 

festival including workshops, exhibitions, music, live theatre and concerts. There was a mixture of 

delivery including ‘live’ and online depending on the restrictions required. The festival had 

contributions from both local and national artists and also included a newly commissioned piece 

from GTown Talents, a local urban music platform inspiring young people looking to pursue a 

creative career. 

Estuary 21 ran between 22 May and 13 June and saw an exhibition in St Andrew’s Arts Centre 

and sound installation in the Clock Tower as well as a co-commission of Golden Year’s by Sadie 

Hennessy - a series of collections from the community in shop windows in St George’s Centre 

which also included a golden ice cream van decorated and broadcasting favourite playlists 

inspired by David Bowie. 

The Make It Art Grants were launched and resulted in 5 commissions to support the Blooming 

Lovely Festival in the town centre. These included an installation to the High Street Heritage sign, 

decoration of four benches for the town centre, decoration of the hoardings at the Market, and 

installations at Milton Chantry and Fort Gardens. Works will be shown throughout the summer.

June saw the launch of England’s Creative Coast with Gravesham hosting an installation y 

Jasleen Kaur -  The First Thing I did was to Kiss the Ground - installed on Pier Plinth with 

associated sound installation on the pontoon. 

Borough Market

Whilst the market initially faired well due to interest from food retailers who were able to continue 

trading throughout Covid, there has been a slight reduction in this last quarter due to one trader 

moving from their double unit into St George's Shopping Centre.  Footfall has however increased 

slightly compared to the previous quarter. This is due to changes in restrictions which allowed 

people to remain in the market to eat/drink and also for some themed markets to be allowed

Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

Average weekly Borough Market footfall

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 91



P I  44

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 4,936

2020-21 0

2021-22

2022-23

Annual indicator

5. Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and 

expand the visitor economy.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Arts & Heritage

The Heritage sites have remained closed and are now looking to re-open in late July 2021.

The new exhibition depicting Barrack life within Milton Chantry has been completed with some 

additional enhancements being added during the course of the year. Thoughts now turn to the 

other rooms and improvements in displays and interpretation of exhibits. 

As part of Milton Chantry 700 and the Blooming Lovely Festival, the building is hosting its first 

artist commission, a tapestry piece by Nicola Flower. The Tapestry can be seen once we re-open 

in July. The Fort Gardens is also participating in the festival with an outdoor installation 

commission by artist Mona Whitton. Both artists are also running workshops in the Fort Gardens 

as part of the Summer Fun programme.

A number of heritage inspired treasure trails are being devised to take place during the summer 

holidays in and around the Fort Gardens and Gordon Gardens, the aim is to encourage 

participation and learning in a safe outdoor atmosphere. During the holidays the Chantry will also 

present some of its characters from the past, namely the Monk, Aymer de Valence and General 

Gordon. 

The recent Make it - Arts Grants for the Blooming Lovely Festival are now in full production; 

• four town centre benches have been decorated by Mona Whitton with drawings from the 

Children at Chantry Academy

• Liz Bylett from Follies Artworks has painted the hoardings on Swan Yard in a beautiful 

countryside theme and also made the flowers which adorn the heritage archway at the top of the 

High Street. 

• Nicola Flower has completed and installed the tapestry in Milton Chantry and the flower 

installation in the Fort Gardens will be installed shortly.

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 92


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Arts & Culture Strategy Update
	Action Plan 22.23 Final

	6 Community Engagement Strategy Action Plan
	Appendix I Community Engagement Strategy
	Appendix II Community Engagement Action Plan monitoring

	7 Equalities Policies and Action Plan Update
	Appendix I GBC Equality Policy and Objectives 202124
	Equalities Strategy Update Appendix II

	8 Extract from the Register of Partnerships and Shared Service
	2. Appendix 2 - Register of Partnerships - JULY 2021 - C & L

	9 Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22
	Community & Leisure Portfolio - Q1 2021-22 - Appendix 2




